
 

 

 
 

 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Friday, 6 December 2024 

 

Notice of meeting  
 

Standards Committee 
 

Monday, 16th December, 2024 at 10.00 am, 
Conference Room - Usk, NP15 1AD 

 

AGENDA 
 

Item No Item Pages 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

3.   Minutes of the previous meeting - 16th September 2024 

 
1 - 2 

4.   Community and Town Councils Training Update 

 
3 - 6 

5.   Outcome of Panel Meeting 

 
7 - 10 

6.   PSOW External Review 

 
11 - 62 

7.   Annual Report of the Adjudication Panel for Wales 

 
63 - 80 

8.   Notes from the National Forum of the Chairs of Standards Committees 

 
81 - 120 

9.   Dates and Times of Future meetings 

 
 

 
Paul Matthews 

Chief Executive 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
CYNGOR SIR FYNWY 

 

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMITTEE IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
County Councillors: 
 
 
 
Independent Members: 

Frances Taylor 
Fay Bromfield 
Rachel Garrick 
 
 
Ruth Price 
Andrew Blackmore 
Michael John 
Rhian Williams-Flew 
Peter Easy 
Marion Gibson 
 
 

 
Public Information 

 
Access to paper copies of agendas and reports 
A copy of this agenda and relevant reports can be made available to members of the public 
attending a meeting by requesting a copy from Democratic Services on 01633 644219. Please 
note that we must receive 24 hours notice prior to the meeting in order to provide you with a hard 
copy of this agenda.  
 
Watch this meeting online 
This meeting can be viewed online either live or following the meeting by visiting 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk or by visiting our Youtube page by searching MonmouthshireCC. 
 
Welsh Language 
The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public through the medium of Welsh or 
English.  We respectfully ask that you provide us with adequate notice to accommodate your 
needs. 

 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/


 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 

 

 to become a zero-carbon county, supporting well-being, health and dignity for everyone 

at every stage of life. 

 

Objectives we are working towards 

 

 Fair place to live where the effects of inequality and poverty have been reduced; 

 Green place to live and work with reduced carbon emissions and making a positive 

contribution to addressing the climate and nature emergency;  

 Thriving and ambitious place, where there are vibrant town centres and where 

businesses can grow and develop  

 Safe place to live where people have a home where they feel secure in;  

 Connected place where people feel part of a community and are valued;  

 Learning place where everybody has the opportunity to reach their potential          

 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions that 

affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we cannot do 

something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain why; if we can’t 

answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – building trust and 

engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something does not 

seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone fairly and 

consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening and explaining 

why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most effective and 

efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone to embrace new 

ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get involved 

so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or problem-solvers, 

but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to make sure we do the 

things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of relationships 

and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 



 

 

 

 
 
 



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Monday, 16th September, 2024 at 10.00 am 

 
 
 
 

PRESENT:  
 

County Councillors: F Bromfield 
 
R. Price, A. Blackmore, John, R Williams-Flew, P. Easy (Chair), 
M. Gibson   
 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
Nicola Perry 
Geraint Edwards 

Senior Democracy Officer 
Deputy Monitoring Officer  

 

APOLOGIES: 
 

Councillors Frances Taylor and Catherine Fookes 
 
 
1. Declarations of interest  

 
None. 
 
2. Minutes of previous meeting  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10th June 2024 were confirmed as an accurate record.  In 
doing so it was noted that the following was omitted and should be added to the minutes: 
 
The Committee acknowledged the work of the previous Chair of the Standards Committee, 
Richard Stow, and his long service on the Committee. 
 
3. Annual Letter from PSOW 2023/24  

 
The Committee received the Annual Letter from the Public Service Ombudsman Wales 
2023/24. 
 
We noted that the number of complaints or approaches to the Omdudsman were only a slight 
increase on last year.  Only two of the complaints were code of conduct complaints, one of 
those were decided not to be investigated and was the subject of the recent Standards 
Committee Panel Hearing. 
 
A concern was raised that in relation to recommendation complied with on time, MCC is one of 
the lowest ranked of all authorities, even though there were only 4 to be dealt with.  This had 
been referred to in the letter as well as attention drawn to the fact that the authorities are 
consulted on timescales before these are published. 
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer agreed to take this as an action to make enquiries and report 
back to the Committee. 
 
 
4. Chair's update: National Forum for Chairs of Standards Committee  

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the meeting of Standards Committee held 
at Council Chamber - Council Chamber on Monday, 16th September, 2024 at 10.00 am 

 
The Chair presented the report to update Standards Committee members following his 
attendance at the National Forum for Chairs of Standards Committees on 24th June 2024. 
 
The notes and presentation slides had been received by the Chair and would be circulated to 
the Committee. 
 
It was highlighted that there was an explanation around appeals being a paper only process.  It 
was hoped their website would be updated to make this clear. 
 
The Monitoring Officer agreed to make enquiries around Town and Community Council Code of 
Conduct training, and their memberships to One Voice Wales.  Also, determine what steps are 
being taken in promoting standards training in Town and Community Councils. 
 
The Committee resolved to accept the recommendation to note the contents of the report.  
 
 
5. Standards Committee Annual Report 2023/24  

 
The Committee received the Standards Committee Annual Report 2023/24 for approval prior to 
reporting to a meeting of Council. 
 
There were no comments, and the Standards Committee resolved to accept the 
recommendation to approve the draft annual report. 
 
6. Date of next meeting - 16th December 2024  

 
The Committee noted the date of the next meeting. 
 
The Monitoring Officer advised that County Councillor Catherine Fookes had advised of her 
resignation that morning, and it was expected the Leader of the Council would appoint a new 
Labour councillor to the Standards Committee ahead of the next meeting. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 10.50 am  
 

 

Page 2



 
 
 
 
 

 

1. PURPOSE 

To advise members of the extent and uptake of code of conduct training among 
members of the Community and Town Councils (“the Councils”) in the 
administrative area of Monmouthshire County Council. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee: 

a) note the information set out in the report relating to the arrangements 
for code of conduct training for members of the Councils; and 

b) instruct the Monitoring Officer to liaise with the clerks of the Councils 
to encourage the uptake of training on the code of conduct.  

 

3. BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 Code of Conduct training is provided to all County Councillors following local 
government elections. Community and Town Councillors are also invited to this 
training. The last session took place in May 2022, the next such session will take 
place following the next local government election.  
 

3.2 The Monitoring Officer also ensures that new members and co-opted members 
of the County Council who join between elections receive code of conduct 
training. It is for Community & Town Councils to arrange training for their own 
members, either internally or via OVW. 
 

3.3 At its meeting on 16th September 2024 members received a report from the chair 
following his attendance at the National Forum for Chairs of Standards 
Committees. The chair reported that Mr Paul Egan, the Deputy Chief Executive 
of One Voice Wales (“OVW”), attended and gave a presentation relating to the 
support offered by OVW to Councils, including the training, support and 
information provided by OVW in relation to standards of behaviour and code of 
conduct matters 
 

3.4 Members requested that enquiries be made with the Councils in respect of their 
arrangements for Code of Conduct training. 

 
 

SUBJECT: Code of Conduct Training - Community & 
Town Councils 

MEETING: 
DATE: 

Standards Committee 
16th December 2024 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 

4. KEY ISSUES 
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer wrote to the clerks of all Councils to establish what training 

their members have undertaken in relation to the Code of Conduct and when this 
was last done. Responses were received from 15 of the Councils indicating a 
mixed picture, as summarised in the table below: 

 

Community 

Council  

Summary of Code of conduct training 

Portskewett 

Community Council  

7 of the 10  councillors re-elected in May 2022 

renewed their training following the election. 

2 co-opted councillors completed training in 2023. 

The Councillor co- opted in March 2024 completed 

the training after joining.  

Rogiet Community 

Council 

6 of the 7 councillors have completed code of 

conduct training, ranging from November 2020- 

March 2024.  

Newly co-opted councillor will be completing the 

training shortly. 

 

Whitecastle 

Community Council  

All received training in May 2022. 

Devauden 

Community Council  

2 councillors have received code of conduct training  

1 councillors has received training on aspects of the 

code 

Gobion Fawr 

Community Council 

Some councillors have received code of conduct 

training. Figures not provided  

Goetre Fawr 

Community Council  

All 8 councillors received code of conduct training 

between 2022-2024. 

Llanbadoc 

Community Council  

6 of the 7 councillors have received code of conduct 

training between 2017-2024.  

Llanelly Community 

Council  

No councillors has received code of conduct training 

in the last 4 years. 

Llanfoist Fawr 

Community Council  

All 10 councillors have received code of conduct at 

some point during their service, but a training record 

is not accurately kept. 

 

Llangybi Fawr 

Community Council 

All councillors have received training, most recently 

in 2022 

 

Llantristant Fawr 

Community Council  

Code of conduct training is undertaken at Council 

meetings but no records of training are kept. Page 4



 

Magor with Undy 

Town Council  

8/10 councillors have received code of conduct 

training. 

Mathern Community 

Council  

All councillors received code of conduct training.  

Abergavenny Town 

Council 

11 out of 17 councillors have received training 

between 2022 and 2023. 

Chepstow Town 

Council 

11 out of 19 Councillors received training in 2022 

 
 
 
4.2 The Monitoring Officer also contacted OVW to obtain details of training resources 

available to the Councils and was informed that code of conduct training is part 
of their on-going training programme, details of which are regularly circulated to 
all Councils. Each Council is entitled to two free training places per year, which is 
funded by Welsh Government, with all other sessions chargeable at the rates set 
out in the table below. 

 

Member Councils (Less than 200 dwellings) £28.00 

Member Councils (More than 200 dwellings) £40.00 

Non-Member Councils (Less than 200 dwellings) £51.00 

Non-Member Councils (More than 200 dwellings) £63.00 

 
 
4.3 The responsibilities of the Standards Committee include promoting and 

maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors. These requirements apply 
to Town and Community Council members as well as County Councillors. 
 

4.4 Whilst attending training on the Code of Conduct is likely to be considered good 
practice by the Committee, there is no statutory requirement for Councillors to 
participate in training on the Code of Conduct. Therefore, whilst the Committee 
cannot compel Councillors to undergo training, it can encourage the uptake of 
such training in order to promote and maintain high standards of conduct. 

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

None. 
 

 

6. CONSULTEES 
 

Chair of Standards Committee – Peter Easy 
 

7. REPORT AUTHOR  

 James Williams, Chief Officer Law & Governance (Monitoring Officer)  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 

Subject: Decision of the Standards Committee Panel Hearing   
 
Meeting:        Standards Committee 
 
Date:              16th December 2024 
 
Divisions/Wards Affected: All 

 

 

 
1. PURPOSE  

 
1.1 To update the Standards Committee of the outcome of the Panel hearing held on 28th 

August 2024. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That members note the decision of the Panel attached at Appendix 1. 

 
 
3. KEY ISSUES 

 
3.1 At its meeting on 10th June 2024, the Standards Committee established a panel of 

independent members to consider a referral from the Public Services Ombudsman 
for Wales (“the PSOW”) following an investigation into whether Councillor Geoffrey 
Cowan of Llantilio Pertholey Community Council had breached its statutory Code of 
Conduct. The details of the complaint are set out in the report presented to the 
Committee at its in June. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the Committee’s procedure for dealing with referrals from the 

Ombudsman (“the Procedure”), the Panel made an initial determination that there 
was evidence to suggest a potential breach of the Community Council’s Code of 
Conduct.  

 
3.3 Both the Ombudsman and Cllr Cowan was contacted in accordance with the 

Procedure. Cllr Cowan subsequently indicated that he did not wish to attend the 
hearing, would not be calling any witnesses and would instead be submitting written 
representations. The Ombudsman indicated that they also did not wish to call any 
witnesses and would be represented by Counsel at the hearing. 

 
3.4 The Panel held the hearing on 28th August 2024, deciding to combine stages 1 and 2 

of the hearing in accordance with its Procedure. The Panel considered the written 
submissions from the PSOW and Cllr Cowan, and also the oral submissions by 
Counsel for the PSOW. 

 
3.5 The Panel retired to reach a decision. The Panel found that the following facts were 

proven on the balance of probabilities: 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



(a) Cllr Cowan made a threat of physical violence towards Cllr Skinner at a meeting 
of the Council held on 20th July 2022; 
 

(b) Cllr Skinner did not wave his walking stick at Cllr Cowan during that same 
meeting; and 

 
(c) the minutes of that meeting are an accurate record of what took place. 

 
3.6 Further, the Panel found that Cllr Cowan’s conduct amounted to a breach of 

paragraphs 4(b) and 6(1)(a) of the Community Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

3.7 The Panel held that the member should be sanctioned and decided that the member 
should be censured. The Panel also imposed a requirement that the member undergo 
training on the code of conduct. A copy of the Panel’s written decision is attached at 
Appendix 1. 

 
3.8 In accordance with the sanction and the Procedure, the written decision was 

published on the Council’s website and in a local newspaper.  
 
3.9 The Monitoring Officer wrote to the Clerk of Llantilio Pertholey Community Council to 

inform him of the outcome and to make arrangements for the member to undergo 
Code of Conduct training. 

 
 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 
  5.1  N/a 
 
6. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 

EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING) 
  
  6.1   No implications. 

 
 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
 Appendix 1 – Panel Decision Notice 

 
 
AUTHOR: 
 
James Williams  
Chief Officer Law & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
Email: Jameswilliams@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 8

mailto:Jameswilliams@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Decision Notice 

Standards Committee Panel Hearing - Councillor Geoffrey Cowan of Llantilio Pertholey 
Community Council 

Hearing Date: 28th August 2023 

 

1. The Panel convened a hearing on 28th August 2024 to hear a complaint to referred to it by 
the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (“the Ombudsman”) in relation to Councillor 
Geoffrey Cowan of Llantilio Pertholey Community Council (“the Council”). 
 

2. The Panel decided, as preliminary issues, to admit the late evidence submitted by Cllr 
Cowan and to combine stages 1 and 2 of the procedure for the hearing. 
 

3. The Panel heard submissions from Counsel for the Ombudsman, and considered the 
papers before it, including the Investigation Report and Cllr Cowan’s written submissions. 
Cllr Cowan did not attend the hearing, and no witnesses were called to give evidence by 
either party. 
 

4. The Panel found that on the balance of probabilities Cllr Cowan made a threat of physical 
violence towards Cllr Skinner at a meeting of the Llantilio Pertholey Community Council 
on 20th July 2022. The Panel noted that the witness evidence of three individuals in 
attendance supported this allegation. The Panel also noted that the incident was 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting, and that these minutes were later approved as an 
accurate record at the subsequent meeting of the Council on 17th August 2022.  
 

5. The Panel noted that whilst the evidence supported the fact that Cllr Skinner had 
repeatedly interrupted Cllr Cowan, the weight of evidence did not establish on the 
balance of probabilities that he had waved his walking stick at Cllr Cowan during the 
meeting on 20th July 2022. 
 

6. Paragraph 4(b) of the Code of Conduct states: ‘When undertaking your role as member, 
you must show respect and consideration for others.’ The Panel found that Cllr Cowan’s 
conduct, in making a physical threat to another member of the Council, demonstrated a 
clear failure to show respect and consideration to Cllr Skinner and therefore amounted to 
a breach of paragraph 4(b) of the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

7. Paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Council’s Code of Conduct states: ‘You must not behave in a way 
which could reasonably be regarded as bringing your office or authority into disrepute at 
any time.’  The Panel found that the conduct would likely damage public confidence in the 
member himself and the Community Council. The Panel therefore found that Cllr 
Cowan’s conduct could reasonably be regarded as bringing both himself and the 
Community Council into disrepute.  
 

8. The Panel decided that a sanction was appropriate in this case. The Panel found that Cllr 
Cowan’s article 10 ECHR right to freedom of expression was engaged. However, the Panel 
did not consider that a threat of physical violence amounted to ‘political expression’ and 
therefore, Cllr Cowan’s conduct did not attract enhanced protection. The Panel further 

Page 9



held that although Cllr Cowan had a right to freedom of expression under article 10 of the 
ECHR, it was necessary and proportionate in these circumstances for that article 10 right 
to be interfered with by the imposition of a sanction for the breach of paragraphs 4(b) and 
6(1)(a) of the Code of Conduct. 
 

9. The Panel were of the view that the nature of the conduct, the fact that it involved a threat 
of physical violence, means that it would be appropriate for a sanction to be imposed. 
The Panel took into account Cllr Cowan’s long service at the Council, and also noted that 
the incident giving rise to the complaint occurred two years ago and no further incidents 
have occurred within that time.  
 

10. The Panel resolved that the member should be censured. The Panel found Cllr Cowan’s 
conduct, in making a threat of physical violence against a fellow member of the Council 
to be entirely unacceptable, falling far below the standards expected of a Community 
Councillor. The Panel also requires that Cllr Cowan completes training in relation to the 
member Code of Conduct. 
 
 

 
 
………………………………………… 
Ruth Price  
(Independent Member & Chair of the Panel) 
 
 
 
………………………………………… 
Marion Gibson  
(Independent Member) 
 
 

 
………………………………………… 
Mike John 
(Community Council Member) 

Page 10



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1. PURPOSE 

1.1 To enable the Committee to consider the Report of the Independent Review of 
Investigations by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales into Code of 
Conduct Complaints published on 27 September 2024 (attached at Appendix 1). 

1.2 To provide the Committee with the consultation document from the PSOW on its 
practice of not informing an accused member of a complaint until after it has been 
assessed (attached at Appendix 2). 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 It is recommended that the Committee: 

a) notes the report of the independent review of investigations by the 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales into Code of Conduct 
Complaints; 

b) instructs the Monitoring Officer to prepare and submit a response to 
the PSOW consultation on behalf of the Committee. 

 

3. BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW), commissioned an 
independent review in May 2024, following receipt of a complaint that a member 
of staff had been making inappropriate social media posts of a political nature 
(“the Review”). 
 

3.2 The aim of the Review was to assess whether the processes, delegations and 
decision making in relation to the assessment and investigation of complaints by 
the code of conduct team and the member of staff concerned have been sound 
and free from political bias. 

 
3.3 The Review was led by Dr Melissa McCullough who is the Commissioner for 

Standards for the Northern Ireland Assembly and also Commissioner for 
Standards for the Jersey and Guernsey States Assemblies. 

 

 
 

 
 

SUBJECT: Public Services Ombudsman For Wales – 
Independent Review & Consultation Response 

MEETING: 
DATE: 

Standards Committee 
16th December 2024 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



4. KEY ISSUES 
 

4.1 The report has now been published in full on the PSOW’s website, a copy of 
which is attached to this report as Appendix 1. A copy of the covering letter from 
the PSOW is also attached at Appendix 2. 

 

4.2 The report made the following recommendations: 
 

1. Documenting the political affiliation of the Accused Member: 

 

In order to mitigate the risk of unconscious bias on the part of the IO and to 
underpin the fairness of the complaint assessment process, it is recommended 
that steps are taken to ensure that the political affiliation of the Accused Member 
is not recorded on the PAAF. The process manual will need to be amended 
accordingly, with updated instructions for the Intake Team.  

 

2. Accused Member not informed of complaint until after assessment: 

 
In the interests of fairness and transparency, it is recommended that the PSOW 
considers reverting to the previous practice of notifying the Accused Member of 
the complaint once it is received. This would also protect the PSOW from criticism 
in that regard, which might arise from circumstances in which the Accused Member 
is unsighted of the complaint and learns of its existence via a third party or the 
media. If the PSOW decides to revert to the previous practice, the process manual 
will need to be amended accordingly.  

 

3. IO decisions not to investigate: 
 

 Notwithstanding the applicable provisions in the process manual and in the 
Decision Review Process, it is recommended that an additional review/ check 
mechanism is put place for the purpose of quality assuring the IO decisions in this 
regard, particularly around the public interest test, and as a further safeguard 
against the potential for unconscious bias on the part of the IO. This 
recommendation is supported by findings from the staff interviews. Given the 
volume of complaints, however, the proposed measure needs to be proportionate 
and it is suggested that this could be achieved by way of occasional random 
sampling of IO decisions.  

 

4. CTM’s delegated authority to overrule IO proposals to investigate and IO proposals 
to extend the investigation or commence a new investigation against another 
member: 

 

 Notwithstanding the applicable 30 provision in the Decision Review Process, it is 
recommended that an additional review/check mechanism is introduced in respect 
of these delegated decisions, in order to mitigate the risk of unconscious bias on 
the part of the CTM when deciding not to agree IO proposals. It is suggested that 
this measure could also be achieved by way of random sampling of CTM decisions. 
Also, the Scheme of Delegation should be updated to include these CTM decision-
making powers.  

 

5. Opportunity for the Accused Member to provide comment:  
 

 The review recognises that, as part of the combined PSOW and APW/standards 
committee process, the Accused Member has a number of opportunities to 

Page 12



comment on the facts of the case. The review therefore found the 31 process to be 
demonstrably fair. That said, the PSOW may wish to consider whether there are 
any additional points in the process in which there would be a benefit in providing 
the Accused Member with the opportunity to comment further on relevant facts, 
particularly in advance of reaching draft conclusions/findings on whether the 
evidence is suggestive of a breach.  

 

6. Public interest factors and considerations:  

 

 The review recognises the factors and considerations listed are non exhaustive, 
but recommends that PSOW gives consideration to developing more detailed 
internal guidance on assessing the public interest test. Additionally, the public 
interest factors and considerations should be reviewed regularly.  

 

7. Clarificatory amendments:  

 

 With a view to clarifying the guidance, the review also recommends that:  

 

i) The process manual is amended to address the apparent contradiction in 
terminology whereby “direct evidence that a breach of the Code took place” 
is a requirement for a complaint to pass assessment stage (paragraphs 5.4 
and 5.5) whereas an investigation can be concluded based on the finding 
that there is “no evidence of a breach of the Code” (paragraph 13.1(a));  

 

ii) The process manual is amended to reflect the existing practice that, when 
the LRO upholds a complaint review request, the reassessment/ 
reconsideration is undertaken by a different IO to the IO who undertook the 
original assessment/investigation; and  

 

iii) The Scheme of Delegation is updated in light of the retitling of the LRO post 
to make clear that the LRO has delegated authority in respect of decisions 
on whether to uphold a review request that the complaint should be 
reassessed/reconsidered. 

 

4.3 The report concluded that the findings of the Review: 

 

‘…should provide reassurance to the public that they can trust and have 
confidence in the work of the PSOW and its Code Team.’ 

 

4.4 The Ombudsman attended the meeting of the Wales Monitoring Officers group 
on the 4th October and advised the group that they accepted all 
recommendations. The Ombudsman is now consulting on the second 
recommendation of the review (see above). A copy of the consultation 
document is attached at Appendix 3 of this report 

 

4.5 The Ombudsman’s response to this recommendation is set out in the 
consultation document but is reproduced for ease of reference: 

 

‘This issue was considered in terms of the fairness of the process. The 
PSOW’s current practice is that a member who is complained about 
(“Accused Member”) is not informed about the complaint until after the 
assessment process has been completed and the complaint is either 
rejected or is deemed to have met the 2-stage test for an investigation to 
commence. If it is decided not to investigate, the Accused Member is 

Page 13



provided with a redacted copy of the statement of reasons but generally 
does not receive a copy of the complaint. If it is decided to investigate, 
the Accused Member is provided with a redacted copy of the complaint 
when they are informed of the PSOW’s decision to investigate the 
complaint. 

 

Previous to the process referred to above, the PSOW would have notified 
the Accused Member of the complaint once it was received. Prior to 
taking the decision to change the process, the PSOW consulted with 
Monitoring Officers via the Local Government Monitoring Officers’ Group 
network to explain the reasons for the change. The chief reason was to 
reduce unnecessary worry for members on complaints which are not 
ultimately investigated. Another reason was that notification to the 
member of the full complaint on receipt of the complaint sometimes 
prompted the member to begin gathering their own evidence to defend 
their position and this also led to some “tit for tat” complaints being made 
and involved pre-assessment discussions with the Accused Member. 
PSOW were of the view that changing the approach to the current one 
was a more efficient use of resources. After trialling this new approach 
for a few months, no concerns were raised by Monitoring Officers, and 
this process was adopted.’ 

 

4.6 The consultation seeks responses to the following: 
 

1. Do you consider that the PSOW should continue its current practice 
of notifying the Accused Member of a complaint once it has been 
closed at the assessment stage of its process or when notifying an 
Accused Member of a decision to start an investigation? 

 

a. If so, please outline your reasons for holding this view. 

b. What effects do you think there would be of continuing this 
practice? 

 

2. Do you consider that the PSOW should revert back to its previous 
practice of notifying the Accused Member of a complaint once it has 
been received? 

a. If so, please outline your reasons for holding this view. 

b. What effects do you think there would be of adopting this 
practice? 

 

3. We have asked these specific questions to help us respond to 
Recommendation 2 of the Independent Review. If you have other 
comments to make about this specific Recommendation, please 
outline them for us. 

 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
None. 
 

6. CONSULTEES 
 

Chair of Standards Committee – Peter Easy 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

7. AUTHOR 

 

 James Williams, Chief Officer Law & Governance (Monitoring Officer)  
 
 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Appendix 1 -  Report of the Independent Review of Investigations by the Public  

          Services Ombudsman for Wales into Code of Conduct Complaints
  

   Appendix 2 – Covering Letter from the PSOW 
 

  Appendix 3 -  PSOW Consultation on its practice of not informing an Accused 
                        member of a complaint until after it has been assessed 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Independent review of investigations by  
the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales  
into Code of Conduct complaints

September 2024

Review panel 

Dr Melissa McCullough (Lead Reviewer) 
Mr John Devitt 
Mr Shane McAteer

Page 17



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼1 35

Review summary 

On 26th March 2024, the Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales (“PSOW”) received a 
substantiated complaint about social media posts 
made by the then Code Team Manager. A number 
of the social media posts were political in nature. 
The media became aware of the social media 
posts and concerns were raised about the 
PSOW’s guiding principles of impartiality and 
independence, with some calling for the PSOW to 
be abolished. 

The PSOW suspended the Code Team Manager 
on 29 March 2024 and she resigned on 3 April 
2024. In May 2024, the Ombudsman 
commissioned this independent review to 
establish whether the PSOW’s Code Team 
processes, delegations and decisions in relation 
to the assessment and investigation of complaints 
by the Code Team and former Code Team 
Manager (“FCTM”) had been sound, free from 
political bias and to ensure that lessons are 
learned from what had happened. The review did 
not include an investigation of the FCTM or the 
incident itself.  

The review examined the Code Team processes 
and delegations. The scope of the review also 
examined 673 cases where decisions not to 
investigate were taken plus 11 discontinued 
investigations, which in total accounted for the 
Code Team decision-making either directly by the 
FCTM or decision-making for which the FCTM 
had oversight. As part of the review, interviews 
were carried out with the Code Team 
investigation officers (“IOs”), the Director of 
Investigations (“DOI/CLA”) and the FCTM to 

establish whether the FCTM expressed her 
personal views on political matters in the office 
and/or inappropriately influenced other  
staff members. 

The review found the PSOW’s Code of Conduct 
processes and delegations to be appropriate, fair 
and impartial and free from political bias. In 
relation to the cases reviewed, the review found 
no evidence of politically biased decision-making. 
The cases reviewed were thoroughly analysed 
and the decision-making was well-reasoned, 
consistent, sound and fully documented for each 
case reviewed. The checks and balances within 
the process were apparent, providing further 
assurance of quality, non-biased decision-
making. The review found the processes were 
impeccably followed by the IOs, including the 
FCTM. The review found no evidence that the 
FCTM expressed her personal views on political 
matters akin to her social media posts in the 
office and/or inappropriately influenced other 
staff members.  
 
In order to maintain public trust in its operations, 
the PSOW's work, especially on standards 
relating to Welsh local government, should follow 
a well-defined and fair process and should exhibit 
excellent analysis and reasoning to ensure 
decision-making is demonstrably impartial. The 
findings of this review point towards such 
excellence, in both complaint assessments and 
processes. This should provide much 
reassurance to the public that they can trust and 
have confidence in the work of the PSOW and  
its Code Team.  

Page 18



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼2 35

Abbreviations & Acronyms 

PSOW Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

DOI/COO Director of Improvement & Chief Operating Officer

DOI/CLA Director of Investigations & Chief Legal Advisor

LRO Lead Review Officer

CTM Code Team Manager

FCTM Former Code Team Manager [1st April 2021 to 31 August 2023] 

IO Investigation Officer

PAAF Pre-assessment and Assessment Form

SC Standards Committee

APW Adjudication Panel for Wales

Page 19



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼3 35

Independent review of the PSOW’s investigation of Code of Conduct complaints	 ￼  5

Introduction	 ￼  5

Incident leading to this review	 ￼  5

Scope and Purpose of the Review	 ￼  5

Review methodology	 ￼  7

Documentary review	 ￼  7

Case review	 ￼  7

Staff interviews	 ￼  7

Review Outcomes	 ￼  8

Processes and Delegations Review	 ￼  8

Introduction	 ￼  8

Issues examined	 ￼  8

Conclusion	 ￼  13

Code Team Case Review	 ￼  14

Introduction	 ￼  14

Results	 ￼  14

Decision notice excerpts	 ￼  16

Conclusion	 ￼  19

Review of the discontinued investigation cases where the FCTM was “case owner”	 ￼  20

Staff interviews relating to the expression of personal views on political matters	 ￼  21

Code Team	 ￼  21

Director of investigations	 ￼  23

Former Code Team Manager	 ￼  23

Conclusion	 ￼  24

Recommendations	 ￼  25

Lessons Learned	 ￼  27

Report conclusion	 ￼  28

Table of contents

Page 20



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼4 35

Appendix 1: Terms of Reference	 ￼  29

Background	 ￼  29

Context	 ￼  29

Scope and Purpose of the Review	 ￼  29

Code of Conduct complaints which  are not investigated	 ￼  30

Code of Conduct complaints  – cases which are investigated	 ￼  30

Lead Reviewer	 ￼  32

Review Team	 ￼  32

Evidence Gathering	 ￼  32

Deliverables	 ￼  33

Appendix 2: Number of cases reviewed by case owner	 ￼  34

Appendix 3: Percentage of cases reviewed by subject	 ￼35

Page 21



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼5 35

Independent review of 
the PSOW’s investigation 
of Code of Conduct complaints 

Introduction 

1. The office of the Public Services Ombudsman 
for Wales (“PSOW”) was established in April 
2006 by the PSOW Act 2005.  This Act was 
repealed and replaced in 2019 to become the 
Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) 2019 
Act  (“The 2019 Act”).   1

2. The role of the PSOW is to 1) look into 
complaints that something has gone wrong 
with Welsh public services; 2) look into 
complaints that Welsh councillors have 
breached their Code of Conduct; and 3) work 
with public bodies to improve public services 
and standards of conduct within local 
government across Wales. 

Incident leading to this review 

3. On 26 March 2024, the PSOW received a 
substantiated complaint that a member of 
staff (herein referred to as the “Former Code 
Team Manager” or “FCTM”) had been making 
inappropriate and unacceptable social media 
posts of a political nature.  

4. The FCTM was suspended on 29 March 
2024 and resigned from her role with the 
PSOW on 3 April 2024. The FCTM had been, 
until the end of August 2023, leading the 
Code Team assessing and investigating 

complaints that local councillors had 
breached the Code of Conduct for councillors 
in accordance with the Local Government Act 
2000  (“LGA 2000”). 2

5. There were a number of social media posts of 
a political nature made by the FCTM, 
including a reply post which said “F*** the 
Tories”.  Media coverage followed, as did 
questions and concerns about the impartiality 
and independence of the PSOW.  

6. This independent review was commissioned 
by the PSOW.  Its remit did not include 
investigating the incident or the FCTM. 
Rather, the review had the following scope 
and purpose. 

Scope and Purpose of the Review  3

7. The purpose of this independent review was 
to look at the PSOW’s processes for the 
assessment and investigation of complaints 
that members of local authorities, fire and 
rescue authorities, national park authorities 
and police and crime panels in Wales have 
breached their Code of Conduct.  The aim of 
this review was to provide assurance as to 
whether the PSOW’s Code of Conduct Team 
processes, delegations and decisions in 
relation to the assessment and investigation 
of complaints by the Code Team and FCTM 

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2019/3/contents1

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/part/III/chapter/III2

 Appendix 13

Page 22



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼6 35

have been sound, free from political bias  and 4

that lessons are learned from what  
has happened. 

8. This review’s terms of reference were 
focussed on the following deliverables. 
(attached at Appendix 1) 

(1) Review of the PSOW’s Code of Conduct 
processes and delegations to ensure that 
they are appropriate, fair and impartial and 
free from political bias.  

(2) Review of decisions taken by the former 
team leader and her Team not to 
investigate Code of Conduct complaints 
from 1 April 2021 to 22 October 2023, to 
ensure that the PSOW’s two-stage test was 
applied properly and decisions were free 
from political bias (673 cases).  

(3) Review of the cases where the former team 
leader was the ‘case owner’ which were 
investigated and closed without a referral 
to a standards committee or the 
Adjudication Panel for Wales from 1 April 
2019 to 22 October 2023, to ensure that 
there is no evidence of political bias in the 
handling of these cases (11 cases). 

(4) Establish whether there is evidence that the 
team leader expressed her personal views 
on political matters akin to her social media 
posts in the office and/or inappropriately 
influenced other staff members, in the 
performance of their duties under the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

(5) Make any recommendations which the 
Lead Reviewer considers appropriate and 
issue a final report which the PSOW will 
share with the Senedd’s  
Finance Committee.   

 For the purposes of this review, political bias will be found where there is evidence that the decision on a case was influenced by the political 4

affiliation of the person who made the complaint and/or the member who was complained about.

Page 23



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼7 35

Review methodology 

9. The following outlines how the various parts of 
this review were carried out.  

Documentary review 

10. Documentation examined included: the Code 
of Conduct Complaints Process (the process 
manual); the Code of Conduct Complaints 
Process Internal guidance note - Scheme of 
Delegation; the Decision Review Process; the 
Code of Conduct – Assessing the Public 
Interest factsheet; the Local Resolution 
Procedure and the PSOW Staff Standards of 
Conduct Policy.  

Case review 

11. There were 673 cases reviewed in which 
decisions were made not to investigate by the 
Code Team whose members were led by the 
FCTM. A further 11 cases, which the FCTM 
investigated, and which were subsequently 
discontinued by the DOI/CLA, were also 
reviewed.  

12. Two members of the review team conducted 
the case review. We sought to calibrate our 
approach by reviewing thirty cases together at 
the start to ensure alignment in terms of the 
review of the documentation including key 
parts of the process, evidence, the two-stage 
test and overall review parameters for each 
case. Once calibrated, cases were randomly 
split and allocated by even and odd case 
numbers. Regular meetings were held 
throughout the review to update and discuss 
the cases, identify any anomalies or questions 
arising, and to document any themes 
emerging.  

13. The PSOW does not purposely keep 
information relating to the political affiliation of 
members subject to the complaint. The review 
initially collated known political affiliations for 
the purpose of cross-referencing, if required, 
at the case review stage.   

14. After all cases were reviewed, a 5% dip-
sampling (n=34) was carried out by the third 
review team member who was not involved 
with the substantive case review. These 
represented 24 Code Team cases and 10 
FCTM cases which included 5 PSOW case 
review decisions. 

Staff interviews 

15. Prior to the substantive case review, 10 
members of the Code Team relating to the 673 
cases being reviewed were interviewed. Once 
the case review was complete, the FCTM and 
the DOI/CLA were interviewed. 

16. Interviews were undertaken on the basis of 
confidentiality and with the purpose of 
establishing whether the FCTM expressed her 
personal views on political matters and/or 
inappropriately influenced other staff 
members on the Code Team.  

17. All interviews were recorded and transcribed 
for the purposes of the review. Transcripts 
were provided to interviewees to ensure that 
each interviewee was satisfied that the 
transcript was a true record of what they said. 

18. Manual thematic analysis was carried out to 
identify patterns or themes emerging from the 
interview data. Any excerpts used in this 
report were approved by the maker of  
the statement.   

Page 24



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼8 35

Review Outcomes 
Processes and Delegations Review 

Introduction 

19. This element of the review (i.e. the first 
element of the terms of reference) included 
an examination of the PSOW’s Code of 
Conduct processes and delegations, 
specifically in terms of ensuring that they are 
appropriate, fair and impartial and free from 
political bias. In particular, this involved 
consideration of the ‘Code of Conduct 
Complaints Process’ document (the process 
manual) which ‘is used to manage the intake, 
assessment, investigation and reporting of 
complaints made to the Ombudsman that 
there may have been a breach of the Local 
Authorities Model Code of Conduct’ and 
which acts as ‘a directive to staff on  
case management’.   5

20. Other documentation examined included: the 
Code of Conduct Complaints Process Internal 
guidance note - Scheme of Delegation; the 
Decision Review Process; the Code of 
Conduct – Assessing the Public Interest 
factsheet; the Local Resolution Procedure 
and the PSOW Staff Standards of Conduct 
Policy. Arising from this exercise, various 
points for clarification were raised and 
responded to via correspondence with the 
Director of Investigations & Chief Legal 
Adviser (DOI/CLA). 

Issues examined   

21. As part of this element of the review, the 
following issues were examined and  
findings noted: 

Documenting the political affiliation  
of the Accused Member  

22. From the case review exercise, it was noted 
that the political affiliation of the Accused 
Member is sometimes recorded on the Pre-
assessment and Assessment Form (PAAF) at 
the beginning of the complaint assessment 
process.  The recording of political affiliation 
appears to be a consequence of the 
requirement in the process manual which 
states: ‘The Accused Member’s details should 
be added to the PAAF by linking to the 
relevant Council website page and taking a 
screenshot of the details.’  6

This issue was discussed during the staff 
interviews and it was noted that the 
screenshot from the Council website may 
include details of political affiliation and this 
information is then captured on the PAAF as a 
by-product of that administrative action. 
There was consensus that such information is 
not required and should not be recorded at 
the assessment stage. It was also noted that, 
in individual cases where political affiliation is 
relevant to the narrative of the complaint, the 
position would be apparent from the case 
evidence or could be checked by the 
investigator if necessary.  

 Page 6 of the process manual.5

 Paragraph 4.2 of the process manual.6

Page 25



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼9 35

Accused Member not informed of complaint 
until after assessment 

23. This issue was considered in terms of the 
fairness of the process. It was noted that the 
Accused Member is not informed about the 
complaint until after the assessment process 
has been completed and the complaint is 
either rejected or is deemed to have met the 
two-stage test for an investigation to 
commence. If it is decided not to investigate, 
the Accused Member is provided with a 
redacted copy of the statement of reasons 
but generally does not receive a copy of the 
complaint.  If it is decided to investigate, the 7

Accused Member is provided with a 
redacted copy of the complaint (and any 
response to a ‘minded to’ letter).  8

24. Previous to the process referred to above at 
paragraph 23, the PSOW would have notified 
the Accused Member of the complaint once it 
was received. Prior to taking the decision to 
change the process, the PSOW consulted 
with Monitoring Officers via the Local 
Government Monitoring Officers Group 
network to explain the reasons for the 
change. The chief reason was to reduce 
unnecessary worry for members on 
complaints which are not ultimately 
investigated. Another reason was that 
notification to the member of the full 
complaint on receipt of the complaint 
sometimes prompted the member to begin 
gathering their own evidence to defend their 
position and this also led to some ‘tit for tat’ 
complaints being made.  PSOW were of the 
view that changing the approach to the 
current one was a more efficient use of 
resources. After trialling this new approach 

for a few months, no concerns were raised by 
Monitoring Officers, and this process was 
adopted. 

25. Regarding this process change, the staff 
interviewed expressed the following views as 
regards to the previous approach: that such 
pre-assessment communications are 
unnecessary and can cause the Accused 
Member undue worry in terms of complaints 
which are ultimately not investigated; that it 
was more resource intensive for PSOW when 
it involved pre-assessment discussions with 
the Accused Member; and that notifying the 
Accused Member of a complaint at an early 
stage can give rise to ‘tit for tat’ complaints. 
Staff noted that the old approach had 
benefits in terms of fairness and 
transparency.

Decisions not to investigate 

26. The review sought clarification on whether 
(notwithstanding the provision in paragraph 
5.15 of the process manual and the Decision 
Review Process) there is any review/check 
mechanism in place in relation to IO decisions 
not to investigate (e.g. random sampling as 
part of an audit process). In that regard, from 
the staff interviews, it was noted that there 
may be merit in having a quality assurance 
mechanism in respect of IO decisions not to 
investigate on the basis of the public interest 
test. It was subsequently confirmed that, 
other than cases where there is a specific  
”review request” from the complainant, no 
random sampling takes place of the quality of 
IO decisions, either generally to review 
decisions taken or specifically in relation to 
the application of the public interest test. It 
was noted, however, that the Service Quality 

 Paragraphs 5.12 and 5.13 of the process manual.7

 A “minded to” letter is the letter sent to the complainant seeking any additional evidential material and information to support the complaint 8

Paragraphs 7.1 of the process manual.

Page 26



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼10 35

Officer randomly samples cases from a 
“service standard” perspective but this does 
not consider the quality of decision making.  9

Proposals to investigate, to extend investigations 
and to commence Own Initiative investigations 

27. The review obtained clarification on various 
issues in this regard. From the process 
manual it is apparent that the Code Team 
Manager (CTM) has delegated authority to 
overrule IO proposals to investigate and IO 
proposals to extend the investigation or 
commence a new investigation against 
another member.  While this is not 10

specifically referred to in the Scheme of 
Delegation, it was confirmed that, in practice, 
in view of the seniority of the CTM role, the 
CTM may overrule an IO’s proposal to 
investigate. The review was also advised that, 
if there is strong disagreement between the 
IO and the CTM or if the CTM considers the 
decision not to investigate may be a 
contentious one, they will refer a case up to 
the DOI/CLA for a view, though this practice 
is not outlined in the process manual/Scheme 
of Delegation. Further, it was confirmed that, 
aside from the Decision Review Process, 
there is no review/check mechanism in place 
in relation to the CTM’s decisions. 

28. The review also sought clarification: on 
whether the IO has discretion or is required to 
propose an extension/OI investigation if, 
during the course of an investigation, other 
potential breaches of the Code are identified, 
either involving the Accused Member under 
investigation or another member; on what 
basis the CTM might not agree to the IO 
proposal to extend the investigation or 
commence a new investigation against 
another member; and on whether the CTM 

has delegated decision-making authority in 
this regard (as this is not included in the 
Scheme of Delegation).  

29. It was confirmed that, when analysing 
evidence gathered, it is a matter for the IO to 
apply their discretion/judgement on cases as 
to whether to recommend, on the basis of the 
two-stage test having been met, that an 
investigation should be extended to consider 
other possible breaches by the Member 
being investigated or to recommend that 
another Member be investigated.  The review 
was advised that, if the CTM or the DOI/CLA 
disagree which such a recommendation, it 
will be on the grounds that the two-stage test 
is not met (e.g. the matter is not serious 
enough and/or the breach appears to be a 
minor/technical one). It was also confirmed 
that, although not specified in the Scheme of 
Delegation, in practice the CTM has 
delegated authority not to extend  
the investigation.  

30. In terms of a partial safeguard, however, it 
was noted that ultimately all the investigation 
cases are reviewed by either the Ombudsman 
or the DOI/CLA before they are closed (by the 
Ombudsman personally if a case is referred 
to the APW/standards committee or by the 
DOI/CLA if discontinued and/or no further 
action/no breach is appropriate). Therefore, 
as part of that review exercise, other possible 
breaches, which meet the two-stage test, 
may be identified or a contrary view may be 
taken on any earlier decision regarding 
extensions, in which case the IO is instructed 
to include the additional matters.  11

 Correspondence with the DOI/CLA, dated 7 August 2024.9

 See paragraphs 6.1 and 8.1 of the process manual. 10

 Correspondence with the DOI/CLA, dated 7 August 2024.11

Page 27



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼11 35

Opportunity for the Accused Member  
to provide comment 

31. In assessing the fairness of the process, 
consideration has also been given to the 
opportunities which the Accused Member 
has to comment on the allegations against 
them, in particular as the facts are 
established during the investigation process. 
It was noted from the process manual that: 
the Accused Member is provided with all 
relevant evidence gathered in advance of 
interview and then has the opportunity to 
comment on this at interview; where the case 
is referred to the APW/standards committee, 
a draft report is sent to the Accused Member 
for comment before it is finalised; and, any 
comments made by the Accused Member in 
response to the draft report will be 
summarised in the final report, given due 
consideration and also usually included in  
the report appendices.  12

32. The review was advised that: all relevant 
facts which are key to whether there has 
been a breach of the Code will be explored 
with the member at interview and the 
resultant information is used to decide what 
facts are/are not disputed; following 
interview, the evidence is analysed and 
disputed facts are decided on the balance of 
probability;  the “findings on fact” are not 
shared with the Accused Member prior to 
them being issued with the draft report as 
applicable; the purpose of sharing the draft 
report, which includes an outline of the 
“disputed” and “non disputed” facts, is to 
provide the member with an opportunity to 
comment, including on the “facts” and the 
“conclusions”, before the PSOW takes a final 

decision; and that the PSOW role is to refer 
cases where its “findings on fact” are 
suggestive of a breach (whereas, as a part of 
the hearing process, the APW/standards 
committee makes final findings on fact as to 
whether there has been a breach of  
the Code).    13

Reassessment/reconsideration  
of complaints 

33. The review also sought clarification on the 
division of responsibilities in this regard, 
including: whether the Lead Review Officer 
(“LRO”) has delegated decision-making 
authority on review requests that complaints 
be reassessed/reconsidered (as this is not 
clear in the Scheme of Delegation); and 
whether a different IO undertakes the 
reassessment/reconsideration when the LRO 
upholds a complaint review request.  It was 14

confirmed that the LRO has delegated 
decision-making authority in this area and 
that a different IO considers the complaint 
afresh when a review request is upheld.   15

Other safeguards existing  

34. In addition to the procedural checks and 
balances alluded to above, the review has 
noted a range of other safeguards and good 
practices which underpin the 
appropriateness, fairness and impartiality of 
the process. For example: 

• The complainant is required to complete a 
disclosure declaration, including to confirm: 
that they agree to the details of the complaint, 
including their identity, being shared with the 
Accused Member and others as appropriate; 

 Paragraphs 12.4, 13.8 and 13.10 of the process manual. It was also noted that, for transparency purposes, comments provided by the 12

Accused Member which are irrelevant to the issues being investigated and therefore not included in the report appendices, are listed in a 
‘Schedule of Unused Material’ which is issued with the final report.

 Correspondence with the DOI/CLA, dated 7 and 9 August 2024.13

 Paragraphs 15.5 and 15.11 of the process manual.14

 Correspondence with the DOI/CLA, dated 7 August 2024.15

Page 28



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼12 35

and that they are prepared to give spoken 
evidence in support of their complaint (and, 
where the complainant provides information 
relating to a third party, consideration is given 
to the need to obtain a declaration from that 
third party to share this information) ; 16

• The PSOW’s decision on whether to 
investigate a complaint should be reached 
within 6 weeks from the date on which 
satisfactory information is received (“DSIR”) ; 17

• All applicable actions and decisions leading 
up to the decision on whether to investigate 
the complaint are recorded systematically on 
the PAAF;  

• The process manual includes detailed 
guidance on Article 10, freedom of  
expression considerations; 

• The reasoning behind decisions is recorded 
and explained throughout the process – e.g. 
the requirements on the IO to provide on the 
PAAF an explanation of each aspect of the 
two-stage test and to provide the complainant 
with a written statement of reasons for the 
decision not to undertake an investigation or 
to discontinue an investigation ;  18

• Investigations are conducted in private and 
there is an emphasis on taking care when 
sharing information during the investigation to 
maintain confidentiality where appropriate ; 19

• The IO is required to keep the Accused 
Member and the complainant updated of the 

progress of the investigation at least every 
6-8 weeks ; 20

• A decision to discontinue an investigation for 
any reason must be approved by the DOI/
Ombudsman ; 21

• The review process is managed by the LRO 
who acts independently of the PSOW’s 
Assessment and Investigation Teams in 
providing a “fresh pair of eyes” review and 
who is directly accountable to  
the Ombudsman ;  22

• The PSOW Staff Standards of Conduct Policy 
includes requirements relating to fairness and 
impartiality including, for example, the 
“paramount importance that PSOW staff 
should be, and be seen to be, impartial and 
non-partisan” ; and 23

• The PSOW induction for staff and training 
programme covers unconscious bias and 
training on taking decisions fairly. 

 See section 3 of the process manual.16

 Paragraph 5.2 of the process manual.17

 Paragraphs 5.7, 5.11 and 11.4 of the process manual.18

 See, for example, paragraphs 5.12 and 7.8 of the process manual.19

 Paragraph 7.11 of the process manual.20

 Paragraph 11.2 of the process manual.21

 Paragraph 7 of the Decision Review Process.22

 Paragraph 7.1 of the PSOW Staff Standards of Conduct Policy, October 2022 (v. 3.0).23

Page 29



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼13 35

Conclusion 

35. The review has found that, in general terms, 
the PSOW’s Code of Conduct processes 
and delegations are robust in terms of 
safeguarding fairness and impartiality.  
They are systematic, well documented and 
supplemented with appropriate guidance 
and the reasoning for decisions is required 
to be recorded and explained as applicable.  

36. The documentary review also identified some 
aspects of the guidance which could benefit 
from clarificatory amendments and the 
suggestions in this regard are outlined in the 
recommendations at the end of this report. 

Page 30



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼14 35

Results of the 
Code Team Case Review 

Introduction 

37. This element of the review relates to terms of 
reference 2 and 3, and examined the 
decisions taken by the FCTM and her Team 
not to investigate Code of Conduct 
complaints, to ensure that the PSOW’s two-
stage test was applied properly and decisions 
were free from political bias.  

38. Of the 673 cases reviewed, 584 were owned 
by 11 members of the Code Team with FCTM 
oversight and 89 were owned by the FCTM.   24

39. The review considered a diverse range of 
cases , and the vast majority (98%) of cases 25

reviewed were against councillors from either 
Local Authorities or Community Councils.  

40. For all of the cases reviewed, it was 
unnecessary to cross-reference the case with 
the political affiliation of the member subject 
to the complaint. This was because the 
review found no evidence that any of the 
case decisions were made on the basis of 
anything other than the evidence available, 
the facts established and the resultant 
reasoned conclusions.   

 
 

Results 

41. The case review examined whether the 
overall process was adhered to in line with 
the process manual. Through the documents 
examined, it was clear that the process was 
followed in each case reviewed.  

42. The PAAF was present in all cases reviewed 
and contained initial input from the Intake 
Team including the address of the member 
complained about and any linked or previous 
cases on the system relating either to the 
complaint, complainant or the Member 
complained about and any precedent cases 
that might be applicable to it. Once received, 
evidence showed that the FCTM often 
entered relevant information on the PAAF, 
including her initial thoughts to provide a 
steer to the member of the Code Team who 
would be assessing the complaint. Once the 
FCTM completed the PAAF, she allocated the 
case to a member of the Code Team to carry 
out their assessment.  

43. There was also evidence of conflicts being 
declared by the FCTM at this early stage (e.g. 
“Assessment will be overseen by [senior 
manager] if required, rather than [the FCTM] 
as there is a potential conflict of interest – 
[FCTM] has knowledge of/ acquainted with 
the Councillor”). 

44. The overall assessment by the allocated 
member of the Code Team (the IO) could be 
readily viewed in the documentation and 
included their input into the PAAF, application 

 Appendix 224

 Appendix 325

Page 31



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼15 35

of the two-stage test, decision notices (the 
letters sent to the complainant once the 
assessment is complete) and various other 
correspondence and meeting notes including 
evidence where any advice and/or guidance 
was sought from line management.  

45. Evidence of the two-stage test being applied 
was found in all cases reviewed, and was 
articulated within the PAAF and the decision 
notices. The quality and content of decision 
notices were reviewed in detail to ensure that 
the outcome, decision-making and 
application of the two-stage test was 
evidentially sound and clearly reasoned. 

46. The review found the application of the first 
part of the two-stage test, which relates to 
assessing whether there was direct evidence 
that a breach of the Code took place, was 
consistently carried out, documented and 
clearly stated in the PAAF and all decision 
notices reviewed. In a number of cases, 
where it was unclear from the complainant’s 
submission exactly which element of the 
Code was alleged to have been breached or 
where evidence may have been missing, 
additional evidential material and information 
was requested to support the complaint in the 
form of a “minded to” letter sent to the 
complainant. On the occasions where a 
“minded to” letter was sent, all relevant 
processes including timeframes were 
adhered to in accordance with the existing 
process manual. Where the IO decided that 
the complaint did not meet the first stage of 
the test, a thorough explanation was provided 
to the complainant as to why, including a 
clear explanation that the second stage of the 
test was not considered due to the first not 
being met and, on occasions, additionally 
explaining why, even had it been met, it would 
not have been in the public interest  
to investigate.  

47. Where the first stage of the test was met, the 
IO went on to apply the second stage of the 
test; this is where the public interest element 
is considered. Many factors and relevant 
considerations can be considered by the IO at 
this stage of the test.  There was evidence of 
consistent, thorough, substantial and sound 
reasoning, including evidence of careful 
consideration and analysis in all cases 
reviewed when taking the various public 
interest factors into consideration. The review 
found the following public interest factors 
considered and evidenced by the IOs: the 
seriousness of the breach; whether the 
member deliberately sought material gain for 
themselves or another person at the public 
expense; whether the circumstances of the 
breach were such that a member had 
misused a position of trust or authority and 
caused harm to another; and whether the 
breach was motivated by any form of 
discrimination against any of the victim’s 
protected characteristics. Other relevant 
considerations  that were taken into account 26

in some of the cases reviewed included: the 
circumstances of the complaint; the extent to 
which the councillor was responsible for, or 
was to blame for, the alleged breach; 
evidence of previous similar behaviour by the 
member; whether they had been the subject 
of previous complaints or investigations; 
whether the alleged conduct was ongoing, 
repeated or escalating behaviour; whether 
the alleged conduct had caused harm or 
impacted on another person, group or body; 
and consideration of the views expressed by 
the complainant, or any other person affected 
by the alleged conduct, relating to the impact 
and effect. 

48. The review found that where complainants 
sought and were granted a review, these 
were considered by the LRO. In every review 
considered, great care was taken in 

 https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-sheets/code-of-conduct-assessing-public-interest/#Considerations26

Page 32



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼16 35

examining the decision and explaining the 
process, rationale and outcome in the review 
decision notice.  

Decision notice excerpts 

49. The review highlighted many examples of 
excellent practice in relation to decision-
making which was evident in the decision 
notices. A few samples are included below. 
For reasons of confidentiality, these examples 
do not include details of the complaint, and 
therefore, cannot be fully illustrative of the 
reasoning provided within the decision 
notices. Nonetheless, though limited in detail, 
they are an important inclusion.  

50. Each decision notice explained the process to 
the complainant: 

“To decide whether to investigate a breach 
of the Code, we apply a 2-stage test. First, 
we consider whether there is evidence to 
suggest that a breach of the Code may 
have occurred. Second, we consider 
whether it is in the public interest to 
investigate the matters complained about. 
We take into account a number of public 
interest factors such as:  

• the seriousness of the alleged behaviour  

• whether the member misused a position 
of trust or has sought to gain, for 
themselves or others, at public expense  

• whether an investigation is required to 
maintain public confidence in elected 
members  

• whether an investigation is proportionate 
in the circumstances or whether, if 
proven, a referral to a Standards 
Committee or the Adjudication Panel for 
Wales would be appropriate.” 

51. Many decisions taken not to investigate 
related to the member’s right to freedom of 
expression (Article 10, Human Rights Act 
1998). The review found this was well 
explained in all decisions where Article 10 
was engaged. 

“The Member’s comment relates to a 
political matter and therefore the Member 
would have enhanced protection under 
Article 10. In this case it is unlikely that the 
post and comment made by the Member 
would be considered so serious that a 
sanction would be considered a 
proportionate interference with the 
Member’s right to freedom of expression. It 
is also the case that the comment relates to 
political opponents, who are also expected 
to have a ‘thicker skin’ approach to political 
comments and debate.  

That is not to say that the Member does not 
need to be mindful of the language [he/she] 
uses. The more egregious the language 
used and the less political the person is 
(that the comments are made about), the 
more likely it is that a sanction would be 
proportionate. Therefore, the Member may 
wish to discuss with their Monitoring Officer, 
or the leader of their political group, the 
type and appropriateness of the comments 
they make on a public forum. 

As it is unlikely that a sanction would be 
considered a proportionate interference 
with the Member’s right to freedom of 
expression, even if a breach of the Code 
were proven, it is highly unlikely a sanction 
would be imposed on the member. In view 
of this an investigation would not be 
proportionate or in the public interest.” CT8 

“It is not uncommon for elected members to 
say things about political opponents which 
others may consider to be rude or offensive.  
However, it is not the purpose of the Code 

Page 33



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼17 35

to inhibit free speech and the robust 
expression of political differences.  I have 
also previously explained that Councillors 
have a wide freedom of expression both in a 
personal and professional capacity.  Article 
10 of the European Convention on Human 
Rights, which affords Councillor X the right 
to free speech, means that he can say 
things which may be shocking or offensive 
to some people.  Whilst I fully appreciate 
that you consider Councillor X’s comments 
to be bullying in nature, I do not consider on 
the evidence provided that they are 
sufficiently offensive, egregious  or 27

insulting to amount to bullying behaviour 
towards fellow members or a breach of the 
Code.” CT6  

52. All decision notices explained the rationale in 
relation to the application of the two-stage 
test. Where complainants did not provide 
sufficient evidence to meet the first stage of 
the test, the decision notice explained this in 
full.  Additionally, where the first stage wasn’t 
met, the decision notices often explained 
why, even had it been met, it would not have 
been in the public interest to investigate.  The 
review also noted the reminder often provided 
in these types of complaints, that the 
Ombudsman does not condone the language 
or behaviour in question, and that the 
Councillor be mindful of their obligations 
under the Code.  

 
“In light of all of the above, I find that you 
have not provided sufficient evidence to 
substantiate your complaints and 
demonstrate a breach of the Code. The 
Ombudsman will not investigate unless 
there is reasonably strong evidence to 
suggest that the member concerned has 
breached the Code. Accordingly, I have 
decided that your complaint does not meet 

the first stage of the 2-stage test and, 
therefore, it should not be investigated.” 
CT2 

“As set out above. I am not persuaded that 
there is evidence of a breach of the Code of 
Conduct. Therefore, an investigation is not 
necessary. But for the avoidance of doubt, I 
should set out that even if I was satisfied 
there was a breach of the Code of Conduct, 
I do not think that an investigation would be 
proportionate and in the public interest. 
Even if a breach were proven, I do not 
consider that a likely sanction would be so 
significant as to mean that an investigation 
would be necessary or proportionate in the 
public interest.” FCTM 

“The conduct of which you complain may 
amount to a breach of the Code. However, 
in these circumstances, I am not persuaded 
that it would be proportionate and in the 
public interest to investigate your complaint. 
In deciding proportionality, one 
consideration is whether, if a breach of the 
code were proven, a sanction would be 
likely to be imposed.  

Having very carefully considered the matter, 
I am not persuaded that it is likely that a 
sanction would be imposed on the member 
even if a breach were proven. I say this 
because…... While this does not excuse the 
behaviour, this would provide  
some mitigation. 

That said, the Ombudsman would not 
condone this type of language, which is 
disrespectful and unprofessional, and I 
would take this opportunity, on the 
Ombudsman’s behalf, to remind Councillor 
X of [his/her] obligations under the Code, 
which in respect of paragraph 6(1)(a) apply 
at all times. Councillor X should also bear in 

 R (on the application of Calver) v Adjudication Panel for Wales [2012] EWHC 1172 (Admin)  27

Page 34



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼18 35

mind that, in the event of any further 
complaints of this nature, the conclusions 
reached in respect of this complaint are 
likely to be considered.” CT5 

53. There were examples of complainants being 
signposted to local resolution and provided 
with other useful advice. 

“If you feel that there is evidence of 
maladministration in the Council’s handling 
of the matters you have raised, you may 
wish to complain directly. If, when you have 
done so, you consider that there is evidence 
of maladministration which has caused you 
personal injustice, you may contact the 
Ombudsman. Further information can be 
found here:  

https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-
sheets/complaints-against-public-bodies-
our-procedure/“ CT5 

54. In cases where a review of the decision not to 
investigate was granted, the LRO and the 
Code Team followed the Decision Review 
Process. Decision letters issued by the LRO 
were extremely thorough, clear and showed 
evidence of sound decision-making. They 
also set out the LRO’s role and the factors 
taken into account when deciding whether a 
case should be looked at again.  

“As Lead Review Officer, I am not involved in 
the assessment or investigation of cases 
carried out by this office. Instead, I act on 
the Ombudsman’s behalf, and with her 
delegated authority, to determine whether 
there are grounds for her to overturn a 
decision previously taken on a case, and to 
carry out further assessment of it.  

However, I must make clear that I cannot 
decide that a case should be looked at 
again simply because you may disagree 
with the decision made. Therefore, for me to 

consider a review request, a complainant 
must be able to demonstrate either:  

• that new and significant information has 
come to light which affects the  
decision; or,  

• that in reaching the decision we did not 
have proper regard to the information 
that was available to us.  

I must also emphasise that my role is not to 
re-assess your complaint about Councillor 
[X], but is, instead, to consider whether [the 
IO] properly considered your complaint, and 
if the decision made was reasonable, and in 
accordance with our statutory jurisdiction 
and practice when considering Code of 
Conduct complaints.  

I have approached my review on that basis.” 
LRO 

“I can understand why it is difficult for you 
to accept the decision reached by this office 
not to investigate your complaint. However, I 
have seen no evidence of service failure in 
the decision itself or in how our two-stage 
test was applied to it. I therefore do not 
uphold your review request or your 
complaint. 

The Ombudsman has a set of service 
standards. I have considered whether they 
have been met in relation to the service 
provided to you by this office. 

Our service was clearly accessible for you 
to use. I consider that [the IO] 
communicated with you clearly, to explain 
how we apply the two-stage test to our 
assessment of Code of Conduct complaints 
and that he was professional in his 
correspondence with you. I am of the view 
that the decision reached in your case was 
both fair and transparent.” LRO 

Page 35

https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-sheets/complaints-against-public-bodies-our-procedure/
https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-sheets/complaints-against-public-bodies-our-procedure/
https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-sheets/complaints-against-public-bodies-our-procedure/


Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼19 35

55. As well as the robust processes and sound, 
well-reasoned decision-making, the tone and 
structure of all correspondence, especially 
the decision notices and the review decision 
notices, was in compliance with the 
Ombudsman Guidance on House Style 
Requirements. For example, the service 
standard to provide accurate information in 
plain and clear language was evident in each 
case reviewed, as was ensuring that their 
communication reflects the “standards and 
values we hold ourselves to” which include: 
being respectful, demonstrating enthusiasm 
and pride in their job, taking responsibility, 
and being supportive and diverse. This 
consistent communication style was 
evidenced throughout all of the cases 
reviewed.   

Dip sampling outcome 

56. A total of 5% of the cases were reviewed as 
an additional check, and included 24 Code 
Team cases and 10 FCTM cases. This 
sampling exercise concurred with the 
findings of the substantive case review, and 
found no evidence that decision-making was 
influenced by the political affiliation of the 
person who made the complaint and/or the 
member who was complained about. 

Conclusion 

57. The review found all decision-making was 
based solely on evidence, facts and solid, 
well-articulated reasoning, and as such, 
there was no evidence of political bias. The 
case review found no evidence that the 
decision-making on any of the cases 
reviewed was influenced by the political 
affiliation of the person who made the 
complaint and/or the member who was 
complained about.  28

 For the purposes of this review, political bias will be found where there is evidence that the decision on a case was influenced by the 28

political affiliation of the person who made the complaint and/or the member who was complained about.

Page 36



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼20 35

Review of the discontinued investigation 
cases where the FCTM was “case owner” 

58. The review examined eleven cases which the 
FCTM investigated, and which were 
subsequently discontinued by the DOI/CLA, 
without a referral to a standards committee or 
the APW to ensure that there was no 
evidence of political bias in the handling of 
these cases. 

59. All of the cases reviewed were against 
councillors from either Local Authorities or 
Community Councils. 

60. All of the discontinuation decisions made by 
the FCTM were signed off by the DOI/CLA 
and the Ombudsman, in line with the process 
manual. 

61. The review of these cases was carried out 
using a similar process as the 673 cases 
reviewed above, including careful 
consideration of the evidence, application of 
the two-stage test, and assessing the 
reasoning for discontinuation. 

Conclusion 

62. The discontinuation decisions review found 
all decision-making was based solely on 
evidence, facts and solid, well-articulated 
reasoning, and as such, there was no 
evidence of political bias. There was no 
evidence that the decision-making in 
relation to these discontinuation cases was 
influenced by the political affiliation of the 
person who made the complaint and/or the 
member who was complained about. 

Page 37



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼21 35

Staff interviews relating to the expression 
of personal views on political matters 

63. This part of the review relates to term of 
reference 4, and examined whether there is 
evidence that the team leader expressed her 
personal views on political matters “akin to 
her social media posts” in the office and/or 
inappropriately influenced other staff 
members. The themes emerging from 
interviews with the Code Team, the DOI and 
the FCTM provide further context, and 
include additional themes that have fed into 
the “lessons learned” section later in this 
report. 

Code Team  

64. Shock was the sentiment expressed by all 
Code Team staff interviewed in relation to 
when they first heard about the incident. 
Every Code Team member said that they 
were “shocked” or “surprised” with a few 
stating they were “devastated” when they 
heard of the incident involving the social 
media posts by the FCTM. At least four of the 
Code Team were friends with the FCTM on 
Facebook; none of them recalled seeing the 
posts in question. Many were not active on 
Twitter. 

65. The staff interviews confirmed that 
discussions about politics did not occur 
between colleagues, either in-office or 
remotely.  Every Code Team member said 
they did not socialise with the FCTM outside 
of work and had never had a discussion with 
the FCTM about politics, never shared any 
personal political views with colleagues and 
had never been influenced in any way by the 
FCTM or anyone’s political views in the office.  

“We're just very much looking at the case 
and seeing what the evidence is and looking 
at our two-stage test and deciding whether 
it meets with that or not…..My experience is 
that nobody would think it was appropriate 
anyway to have those types of 
conversations.“ CT4 

“I haven't seen anything that would lead me 
to give any cause for concern about her 
work or her demeanour in the office, or as 
you say I haven't seen anything around 
political views in the office. From my 
perspective she was always very 
professional, and she did take the role very 
seriously within the office.“ CT5 

“I can honestly say I don't know which way 
my colleagues vote. We don't talk about 
politics. I don't know what their views are 
and that's how it should be.“ CT7 

“I remember feeling really impressed about 
how professional she was, and not once did 
she mention her political views or opinions; 
not once. Actually, none of us in the team 
have discussed that either.“ CT10 

“With work, it was always about the 
evidence and the two-stage test and 
whether there was direct evidence, and then 
whether it was in the public interest. The 
political parties of the members complained 
about, or the complainants, never really 
featured in any of the decision-making or 
even not really commented upon unless the 
complainant had made it specific - had 
expressed that it was a political spat, so to 
speak.“ CT11 

Page 38



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼22 35

66. Another theme emerging was the respect 
Code Team members had for the FCTM, the 
work that she did, her professionalism and 
the support she provided to those she 
managed.  

“We'd often have chats about cases if I was 
finding it difficult, and she was always I 
thought really professional and full of 
knowledge, so it was always really helpful 
to chat through things with her. I never 
thought anything other than she's assessing 
this against the code of conduct and our 
two-stage test, ever.“ CT3 

“Yes, I mean, she took such pride in what 
she did. She loved her job. She was 
exemplary in terms of being a manager, and 
supportive and promoting the work we do. 
She clearly took a lot of pride in it and 
working for the organisation.“ CT8 

“If she felt that there was an exchange 
worth a discussion, she would welcome that 
discussion. She wasn't seeking to impose 
her view on you. She wanted to understand 
your opinion, and for us to reach the right 
decision based on that, so I think that's an 
important point worth making.“ CT9 

“She felt passionately about doing it the 
right way, and so I'd be very surprised if any 
evidence does come to light of political 
bias…..she would've done anything to make 
sure that nothing within work could impact 
the integrity of the process, or the decisions 
that we make.“ CT9 

67. The impact on the PSOW and its staff was 
mentioned by many members of the Code 
Team. They spoke about the negative impact 
this incident has had on them, their work and 
on the reputation of the PSOW. While this 
theme does not relate to the FCTMs 
expression of any personal or political views 

[ToR 4], it is included here as an important 
theme to provide context on the impact the 
incident has had which has informed the 
lessons learned section of the report.  

“We're a small team, we work closely 
together, really believe in what we do, and I 
think that the comments that have been 
made about us as a team and an 
organisation have been unfair…and I think 
that's had a big impact on everyone. 
Scrutiny is fine when it's fair scrutiny, but it 
feels like some of the comments have been 
really unfair.“ CT6 

“That's not nice to hear, really trashing your 
work, really, when you know that quite a lot 
of care goes into what we do.“ CT10 

“It's a shame, because I have no doubt that 
the work that everybody puts in is 
completely impartial and is of a really good 
standard, so I just think it's unfortunate that 
it's being called into question because of 
the actions of one individual in  
that respect.“ CT5 

“It's a specialist role, and we have specialist 
staff that have done it and done it well for 
many years, and we know how to do it. So it 
wouldn't be appropriate for anybody else to 
do that. So I think it is really important that 
we keep that work, and we keep doing what 
we're doing, and we keep upholding 
standards, which is what we do.“ CT5 
 

68. The staff views about the Code of Conduct 
process were sought in order to help inform 
the review of processes and delegations 
which have been discussed above in this 
report. Overall, it was evident that each Code 
Team member was very proud to work for the 
PSOW, took pride in their work, and felt the 
processes were robust, with many 

Page 39



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼23 35

mentioning the checks and balances that are 
in place. 

“I think it's a very thorough - lots of checks 
and balances. It's a real quality product at 
the end of it.“ CT10 

“I think our processes are - it's quite a 
rigorous process. There are lots of checks 
and balances and I think that's largely to 
make sure that inappropriate decisions 
aren't made and that we're considering 
things appropriately - that we're not biased 
in our decision-making, that we're treating 
cases fairly, that we're looking to make 
consistent decisions - and that sort of thing. 
It does mean that the process is a lengthy 
one and that our investigations do take an 
awful long time. There's a reason why those 
checks are in place. I think it would be 
dangerous for us to cut those corners to 
have a shorter investigation and possibly 
open ourselves up to other risks.“ CT7 

“I think you have to, because if you do 
something that's ill-thought through or 
poorly thought through and you get 
challenged, as in a review, you've got to be 
able to justify why you came to that 
decision or what you based that decision on 
so that it can be considered properly by the 
person who needs to review, if you know 
what I mean. You always bear that in mind - 
well, I have anyway - when you're putting 
your PAAF and your decision notice 
together, because you need to be able to 
justify why you're thinking what you're 
thinking.“ CT8 

“It's like they hand-picked people for the 
organisation that have the right attitude and 
mindset to the work, and it's clear that the 
team really care, are really thorough, really 
care about the work.“ CT10 

DOI/CLA 

Director of investigations	  69. The DOI/CLA was interviewed as part of the 
review. The DOI/CLA worked with the FCTM 
for fifteen years at the PSOW and, like the 
rest of the staff interviewed, expressed her 
disbelief and shock at the incident. She also 
expressed her view that the FCTM was a 
professional and valued member of the 
organisation.  

“As far as I was aware, and in my 
experience with her, always professional, 
objective in her application of what we do 
here, and that was my experience of her. As 
I say, I worked very closely with her over 
that long period, and I would add, as well, 
she was always really regarded as an 
effective, first of all, investigator, but a really 
good manager, as well, of our work. She 
really was one of our highly valued up and 
coming managers, really.” 

“We talk about cases, and as you'll have 
seen from the way we set out the context, if 
we think somebody's political allegiance is 
relevant to a case, there might be reference 
to it, but I really didn't know what her own 
personal political views are. I think it's a 
type of office, because we are very clear 
about issues of disrepute, because of what 
we do, and I think we all keep our personal 
views to one side, and we know we have to 
apply that objectively….. It's not the sort of 
conversations we have in the office, or I 
have with staff, anyway.“ 

FCTM 

Former Code Team Manager  70. The FCTM was interviewed after the case 
review was complete. As stated previously, it 
was not in the scope of this review to 
investigate the incident or the FCTM in 
relation to the posts she made. However, the 
review felt it would be entirely appropriate to 

Page 40



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼24 35

invite the FCTM to speak to the Lead 
Reviewer to provide any information she felt 
relevant to the review, if she wished to do so; 
we are grateful that she engaged with the 
review. The following points were noted. 

• The FCTM stated that this was the first time 
she had formally spoken to anyone about 
the details of the incident. 

• The FCTM said that she is not very political 
and doesn’t lean towards any political party; 
rather, she has strong personal views about 
policy issues and the impact policies have 
on people.  

• The review learned that the FCTM 
implemented unconscious bias training for 
the PSOW, and further delivered the 
decision-making induction module to staff 
which included the topics of confirmation 
bias, conscious and unconscious bias, and 
personal bias, all of which were endorsed by 
the PSOW. She also said that she discussed 
these topics with her team regularly, 
including the importance of applying the 
code and not personal biases about the 
members or their political parties. She also 
said she recognised the importance of the 
will of the electorate, regardless of her own 
views and would often remind her team of 
this.  

• The FCTM said that she had declared 
interests, as required by PSOW relating to 
her personal relationships with friends who 

had political affiliations. She said that if any 
complaints were received which related to 
those people, she declared an interest and 
did not deal in any detail with that casework.  

• The FCTM said she was “heartbroken” that 
anything she could have done could have 
damaged the reputation of the office. She 
said she had worked very hard for the 
organisation for fifteen years and was good 
at her job. She said she was not concerned 
by PSOW’s decision to commission an 
independent review, stating that “Anyone 
can look at any of my work. I document 
everything. I created the PAAF, the form to 
keep it all logical so that anyone can see it, 
anyone can access it. I kept all of my notes, 
everything in a place where it can all be 
accessed. There's clear oversight from top 
to bottom. I introduced the - put in the 
Article 10 considerations up front to make 
sure that we considered all that at the 
outset...We had bi-weekly discussions as a 
team, and we had monthly case meetings 
where we went through every single case 
with senior managers in the room.” 

Conclusion 

71. The review found no evidence that the 
FCTM expressed her personal views on 
political matters “akin to her social media 
posts” in the office and/or inappropriately 
influenced other staff members, in the 
performance of their duties under the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

Page 41



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼25 35

Recommendations 

72. The following recommended improvements, 
which relate to the current process, would 
augment the existing safeguards for ensuring 
the fairness and impartiality of the processes 
and would clarify the related guidance as 
applicable: 

(1) Documenting the political affiliation of 
the Accused Member: in order to mitigate 
the risk of unconscious bias on the part of 
the IO and to underpin the fairness of the 
complaint assessment process, it is 
recommended that steps are taken to 
ensure that the political affiliation of the 
Accused Member is not recorded on the 
PAAF. The process manual will need to be 
amended accordingly, with updated 
instructions for the Intake Team.   

(2) Accused Member not informed of 
complaint until after assessment: in the 
interests of fairness and transparency, it is 
recommended that the PSOW considers 
reverting to the previous practice of 
notifying the Accused Member of the 
complaint once it is received. This would 
also protect the PSOW from criticism in 
that regard, which might arise from 
circumstances in which the Accused 
Member is unsighted of the complaint and 
learns of its existence via a third party or 
the media. If the PSOW decides to revert 
to the previous practice, the process 
manual will need to be amended 
accordingly.   

(3) IO decisions not to investigate: 
notwithstanding the applicable provisions 
in the process manual  and in the 29

Decision Review Process, it is 
recommended that an additional review/
check mechanism is put place for the 
purpose of quality assuring the IO 
decisions in this regard, particularly 
around the public interest test, and as a 
further safeguard against the potential for 
unconscious bias on the part of the IO. 
This recommendation is supported by 
findings from the staff interviews. Given 
the volume of complaints, however, the 
proposed measure needs to be 
proportionate and it is suggested that this 
could be achieved by way of occasional 
random sampling of IO decisions. 

(4) CTM’s delegated authority to overrule IO 
proposals to investigate and IO proposals 
to extend the investigation or commence 
a new investigation against another 
member : notwithstanding the applicable 30

provision in the Decision Review Process, 
it is recommended that an additional 
review/check mechanism is introduced in 
respect of these delegated decisions, in 
order to mitigate the risk of unconscious 
bias on the part of the CTM when deciding 
not to agree IO proposals. It is suggested 
that this measure could also be achieved 
by way of random sampling of CTM 
decisions. Also, the Scheme of Delegation 
should be updated to include these CTM  
decision-making powers. 

(5) Opportunity for the Accused Member to 
provide comment: the review recognises 
that, as part of the combined PSOW and 
APW/standards committee process, the 
Accused Member has a number of 

 See, for example, paragraph 5.15 of the process manual.29

 See paragraphs 6.1 and 8.1 of the process manual. 30

Page 42



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼26 35

opportunities to comment on the facts of 
the case.  The review therefore found the 31

process to be demonstrably fair. That said, 
the PSOW may wish to consider whether 
there are any additional points in the 
process in which there would be a benefit 
in providing the Accused Member with the 
opportunity to comment further on 
relevant facts, particularly in advance of 
reaching draft conclusions/findings on 
whether the evidence is suggestive of a 
breach.  

(6) Public interest factors and 
considerations: the review recognises the 
factors and considerations listed are non-
exhaustive, but recommends that PSOW 
gives consideration to developing more 
detailed internal guidance on assessing 
the public interest test. Additionally, the 
public interest factors and considerations 
should be reviewed regularly.  

(7) Clarificatory amendments: with a view to 
clarifying the guidance, the review also 
recommends that: 

I. The process manual is amended to 
address the apparent contradiction in 
terminology whereby “direct evidence 
that a breach of the Code took place” is 
a requirement for a complaint to pass 
assessment stage (paragraphs 5.4 and 
5.5) whereas an investigation can be 
concluded based on the finding that 
there is “no evidence of a breach of the 
Code” (paragraph 13.1(a));   

II. The process manual is amended to 
reflect the existing practice that, when 
the LRO upholds a complaint review 
request, the reassessment/
reconsideration is undertaken by a 
different IO to the IO who undertook the 
original assessment/investigation; and 

III. The Scheme of Delegation is updated in 
light of the retitling of the LRO post to 
make clear that the LRO has delegated 
authority in respect of decisions on 
whether to uphold a review request that 
the complaint should be  
reassessed/reconsidered. 

 See, for example, paragraphs 12.4, 13.8 and 13.10 of the process manual.31

Page 43



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼27 35

Lessons Learned 

73. The findings of this review should offer 
reassurance to the public and to elected 
members that the PSOW Code of Conduct 
processes are robust, consistently applied, 
fair and fit-for-purpose.  As the review found 
no evidence of political bias in the decision-
making nor any material process concerns, 
the main lessons learned relate to measures 
that might lessen the risk of this type of thing 
occurring again. The review recommends that 
the PSOW reflects on the following points: 

(1) Whether the PSOW’s Staff Code of 
Conduct, policies and practices relating to 
social media usage could be more 
comprehensive in relation to setting out 
the circumstances in which social media 
activity by an employee amounts to 
misconduct, both in their work and private 
lives, with consideration of current case 
law in relation to freedom of expression 
(Article 10) and other relevant  
precedent cases. 

(2) Whether steps need to be taken to ensure 
clear information is provided as part of 
any PSOW recruitment processes to 

ensure candidates are made aware of any 
necessary curtailment of PSOW 
employees’ right to freedom of 
expression, including activity on  
social media. 

(3) Whether bias/unconscious bias 
assessments should be a mandatory part 
of the recruitment process. 

(4) Whether mandatory refresher training on 
unconscious bias and on social media 
usage should be implemented on an 
annual basis. 

(5) Whether, should similar exceptional 
circumstances arise, the PSOW requires 
any further policies or processes to be in 
place to support its staff. 

(6) Whether, due to the particular challenges 
arising from investigating the conduct of 
elected members, appropriate training is 
in place for applicable PSOW staff in 
relation to resilience in managing the 
pressures and vulnerabilities which come 
with this role. 

Page 44



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼28 35

Report conclusion 

74. As stated in The Venice Principles , “Ombudsman Institutions have an important role to play in 32

strengthening democracy, the rule of law, good administration and the protection and promotion of 
human rights and fundamental freedoms”. The PSOW is built on the principles of independence, 
impartiality, fairness and inclusivity. These principles must be reflected in the important work carried 
out by the PSOW in order to maintain public trust in its operations. This necessarily means that the 
assessments carried out by investigation officers who work for the PSOW should demonstrate a 
consistent application of a well-defined and fair process as well as excellent analysis and reasoning 
to ensure that their decision-making is patently impartial and non-biased. The findings of this review 
point towards such excellence, in both processing and complaint assessment. This should provide 
reassurance to the public that they can trust and have confidence in the work of the PSOW and its 
Code Team.  

 https://www.venice.coe.int/webforms/documents/default.aspx?pdffile=CDL-AD(2019)005-e32

Page 45



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼29 35

Appendix 1: Terms of Reference 
 
Independent Review of PSOW’s  
Investigation of Code of Conduct Complaints 

Final Version 16.05.24 

Background 

The office of the Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales was established in April 2006 by the Public 
Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2005. In 2019 
this Act was repealed and replaced by the Public 
Services Ombudsman (Wales) 2019 Act (“The 
2019 Act”). The appointment of ‘Ombudsman’ is 
made by the Crown and the current Ombudsman, 
Michelle Morris, has been in post since  
April 2022. 

The role of the PSOW is to: 1) look into complaints 
that something has gone wrong with Welsh public 
services; 2) look into complaints that Welsh 
councillors have breached their Code of Conduct; 
and 3) work with public bodies to improve public 
services and standards of conduct within local 
government across Wales. 

Context 

On 26 March 2024, the PSOW was informed by a 
member of the public that a member of staff 
(herein referred to as the “Former Team Leader”) 
had been making inappropriate and unacceptable 
social media posts of a political nature. 

The Former Team Leader was suspended on 29 
March 2024 and resigned from her role with 
PSOW on 3 April 2024. The Former Team Leader 
had been, until the end of August 2023, leading 

the Code Team assessing and investigating 
complaints that local councillors had breached 
the Code of Conduct for councillors in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 
(‘LGA 2000’). 

Scope and Purpose of the Review 

The purpose of the independent review is to look 
at the PSOW’s processes for the assessment and 
investigation of complaints that members of local 
authorities, fire and rescue authorities, national 
park authorities, and police and crime panels in 
Wales have breached their Code of Conduct. The 
aim of this review is to provide assurance as to 
whether the PSOW’s code of conduct processes, 
delegations, and decisions in relation to the 
assessment and investigation of such complaints 
have been sound, free from political bias, and that 
lessons are learned from what has happened. 

Political bias will be found where there is 
evidence that the decision on a case was 
influenced by the political affiliation of the person 
who made the complaint and/or the member who 
was complained about. 

While there is currently no evidence that the 
Former Team Leader expressed her personal 
views or influenced others in the office, PSOW 
recognises that any review also needs to provide 
assurance on the Former Team Leader’s decision-

Page 46



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼30 35

making and potential influence on others. There is 
no intention for this review to reassess cases 
afresh or to reopen cases. 

Code of Conduct complaints which  
are not investigated 

From 1 April 2021 onwards, the Code Team was 
responsible for the assessment of Code of 
Conduct complaints and making decisions on 
which complaints should not be investigated. 
Prior to this date these assessments were made 
in a different team, which was not managed by 
the Former Team Leader. 

On 1 September 2023, as happens from time to 
time in accordance with the operational needs of 
the office, the PSOW rotated team leaders and 
the Former Team Leader moved to manage a 
different team in PSOW. On this occasion, the 
rotation occurred as a result of the retirement of a 
team leader who managed a Public Service 
Complaints Investigation Team. 

From 1 September 2023 until 22 October 2023, 
the Code Team had no team leader, pending the 
new team leader taking up this role on 23 
October. During the time when no team leader 
was in position, a more senior manager oversaw 
the work of the Code of Conduct Team. She was, 
from time to time, assisted by the Former Team 
Leader. 

This review will consider assessment decisions 
taken by the Former Team Leader and the Code 
Team from 1 April 2021 until 22 October 2023. 

The PSOW applies a two-stage test when 
deciding whether a complaint should be 
investigated. Firstly, whether the evidence 
provided suggests that a breach of the Code of 

Conduct has occurred, and, secondly, whether an 
investigation is required in the public interest. 

As the Former Team Leader did not manage the 
Team which took assessment decisions on Code 
of Conduct cases before 1 April 2021, this review 
will not consider assessment decisions taken 
before 1 April 2021. 

Code of Conduct complaints  
– cases which are investigated 

Decisions to start an investigation under section 
69 of the LGA 2000 are taken by the Director of 
Investigations/Chief Legal Adviser. 

Decisions to discontinue an investigation before 
its completion are taken by the Director of 
Investigations/Chief Legal Adviser. 

On completion of an investigation, the PSOW’s 
role is to decide which of the following findings 
under s69(4) of the LGA 2000 is appropriate: 

(a) that there is no evidence of any failure to 
comply with the code of conduct; 

(b) that no action needs to be taken in respect of 
the matters which are the subject of the 
investigation; 

(c) that the matters which are the subject of the 
investigation should be referred to the monitoring 
officer of the relevant authority concerned for 
consideration by its standards committee, or; 

(d) that the matters which are the subject of the 
investigation should be referred to the president 
of the Adjudication Panel for Wales for 
adjudication by a tribunal. 

Page 47



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼31 35

Decisions that there is no evidence of a breach of 
the Code (as outlined in (a) above) or that no 
action needs to be taken in respect of the matters 
investigated (as outlined in (b) above) are taken 
by the Director of Investigations/Chief Legal 
Adviser. 

Cases which the Former Team Leader 
investigated during the period from 1 April 2019 
(when the Former Team Leader became 
responsible for the oversight of Code of Conduct 
work) until 23 October 2023 and which the 
Former Team Leader either decided to 
discontinue or close because there was no 
evidence of a failure to comply with the code or 
no action needed to be taken, will be considered 
as part of this review. Although the Former Team 
Leader did not make the final decision on these 
cases, all cases which the Former Team Leader 
investigated whilst in a management role 
overseeing Code of Conduct casework for PSOW, 
will be considered as part of this review. 

Decisions to refer a matter for hearing to a 
standards committee or the Adjudication Panel for 
Wales under (c) or (d) above, are taken by  
the Ombudsman. 

These cases are then subject to an independent 
hearing, in which the investigation may be 
challenged and scrutinised and witnesses may be 
called before the relevant standards committee or 
Adjudication Panel for Wales reaches a decision 
on whether the councillor complained about has 
breached the Code of Conduct, and if so, whether 
a sanction should be imposed. 

A councillor may appeal against decisions taken 
by a standards committee to the Adjudication 
Panel for Wales. 

A councillor may appeal against decisions taken 
by the Adjudication Panel for Wales to the High 
Court. 

The Adjudication Panel for Wales and standards 
committees are independent of the Ombudsman 
and take decisions on cases independently of the 
Ombudsman. Cases referred to either a standards 
committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales 
have already been reviewed by those bodies. 
Decisions of those bodies are appealable: that is, 
there is a statutory mechanism in place which 
allows a councillor subject to a decision of those 
bodies to seek a further review of those 
decisions. The Ombudsman has no power to alter 
a decision of a standards committee or the 
Adjudication Panel for Wales. The only way in 
which such decisions can be challenged or 
altered is via the statutory appeal process. 
Accordingly, the review will not include  
these cases. 

Page 48



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼32 35

Lead Reviewer 

Dr. Melissa McCullough 

Melissa McCullough is the Commissioner for 
Standards for the Northern Ireland Assembly 
(since 2020) and also the Commissioner for 
Standards for the Jersey and Guernsey States 
Assemblies (since March 2023). Melissa moved 
to Belfast from the United States in 1994 and 
obtained a PhD from Queen’s University Belfast, 
Faculty of Medicine in 1997. She has worked as 
an academic in law, ethics, and professionalism in 
the UK and Ireland since 2005. Melissa also holds 
the Advanced Professional Certificate in 
Investigative Practice, a Master’s degree in 
Bioethics and Applied Ethics and a Bachelor of 
Laws degree. Melissa served as a ministerial 
appointed non-executive director on the Health 
and Social Care Board in Northern Ireland from 
2009 until 2020 and is currently a member of the 
BMJ Ethics Committee. 

Review Team 

Mr. John Devitt 

John Devitt is a Senior Policing Oversight 
Specialist & Independent Professional 
Investigator. John is a former Scotland Yard 
Detective and Senior Investigator for the Office of 
the Police Ombudsman for Northern Ireland. John 
has extensive major crime investigation 
knowledge and experience. He has, over his long 
career, undertaken some of the most challenging, 
complex, and sensitive investigations nationally 
and internationally. John currently sits as an 
Advisory Panel Member for the charity Inside 
Justice which reviews and investigates alleged 
miscarriages of justice. John also supports the 
Northern Ireland Assembly Commissioner for 
Standards with her ethics and standards current 
case work. He has been a member of the Institute 
of Professional Investigators since 1992. 

Mr. Shane McAteer 

Shane McAteer is the Clerk of Standards at the 
Northern Ireland Assembly and has worked as a 
senior public official for over 20 years, with 
experience in supporting the development and 
scrutiny of public policy and legislation and in 
providing procedural advice, policy analysis, and 
professional support to elected representatives. 
Shane has particular experience in advising 
elected representatives on Code of Conduct 
requirements and in supporting the adjudication 
of complaints against elected representatives. He 
has expertise in conduct/workplace investigation 
and holds the Advanced Professional Certificate 
in Investigative Practice. In addition, Shane has 
prior experience as a Third Sector CEO. 

Evidence Gathering 

The Review Team will each be provided access to 
the case management database. Aside from what 
is available on the case management database, 
the Review Team will also gather any and all 
written correspondence, documentation, and 
communications relating and relevant to the 
scope and purpose of the review including email, 
telephone, digital and hard copy information. The 
Review team may deem it necessary to interview 
team members and staff and other relevant third 
parties as may become apparent throughout  
the review. 

Page 49



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼33 35

Deliverables 

The Ombudsman has appointed Melissa 
McCullough to lead this independent review and 
report on their findings. 

The PSOW considers that Dr. McCullough should 
have a wide scope for comment and should  
seek to: 

1. Review the PSOW’s Code of Conduct 
processes and delegations to ensure that 
they are appropriate, fair, impartial, and free 
from political bias. 

2. Review the decisions taken by the former 
team leader and her team not to investigate 
Code of Conduct complaints from 1 April 
2021 to 22 October 2023, to ensure that the 
PSOW’s two-stage test was applied properly 
and decisions were free from political bias 
(673 cases). 

3. Review cases where the former team leader 
was the ‘case owner’ which were 
investigated and closed without a referral to 
a standards committee or the Adjudication 
Panel for Wales from 1 April 2019 to 22 
October 2023, to ensure that there is no 
evidence of political bias in the handling of 
these cases (11 cases). 

4. Establish whether there is evidence that the 
team leader expressed her personal views 
on political matters akin to her social media 
posts in the office and/or inappropriately 
influenced other staff members, in the 
performance of their duties under the Local 
Government Act 2000. 

5. Make any recommendations which Dr. 
McCullough considers appropriate and issue 
a final report which the PSOW will share with 
the Senedd’s Finance Committee. In the 
event that Dr. McCullough considers it 
necessary to widen the scope of this review, 
she will inform and agree this with the 
Ombudsman. 

Page 50



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼34 35

Appendix 2: Number of cases 
reviewed by case owner 

 
Code Assessment Team Number of Cases Reviewed

CT 1 11

CT 2 15

CT 3 91

CT 4 6

CT 5 30

CT 6 116

CT 7 68

CT 8 95

CT 9 49

CT 10 19

CT 11 84

FCTM 89

Total 673

Page 51



Independent review of investigations by PSOW into Code of Conduct complaintsSeptember 2024

P-￼  / ￼35 35

Appendix 3: Percentage of cases 
reviewed by subject 

M
ai

n 
su

bj
ec

t o
f C

om
pl

ai
nt

 

Accountability and openness

Disclosure and registration of interests

Duty to uphold the law

Integrity

Objectivity and propriety

Promotion of equality and respect

Selflessness and stewardship

 
Percentage of cases

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

3.7%

58.1%

6.7%

6.5%

7.7%

10%

7.3%

Page 52



 

 

  
 

Page 1 of 1  

 
 
CONFIDENTIAL 
 

By email only 
 
Independent Review of investigations by the Public Services Ombudsman 
for Wales into Code of Conduct complaints 
 
I am pleased to share with you a copy of the final report and press statement 
which will be published on PSOW’s website on Friday 27 September.  These 
documents remain under embargo until publication and the contents should 
remain confidential until that time.  
 
I commissioned this Independent Review in May 2024 following public concern 
about PSOW’s work on Code of Conduct complaints which may be made about 
Elected Members in Local Government in Wales.  The powers granted to PSOW, 
in relation to this work, are set out in the Local Government Act 2000. The 
Review was led by Dr Melissa McCullough who is the Commissioner for 
Standards for the Northern Ireland Assembly and also Commissioner for 
Standards for the Jersey and Guernsey States Assemblies. 
 
I welcome this report and accept the recommendations and lessons to be learnt. 
 
If you have any questions or wish to discuss the report then please contact 
Marilyn.Morgan@ombudsman.wales to arrange a convenient time.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Michelle Morris 
Public Services Ombudsman 

Your ref:  

Our ref: MAM/mdm 
Date: 25 September 2024 

Ask for: Marilyn Morgan 

 01656 641152 

 Marilyn.morgan@ombudsman.wales 

Page 53

mailto:Marilyn.Morgan@ombudsman.wales


This page is intentionally left blank



PSOW Consultation 
on its practice of not 

informing an Accused 
member of a complaint 

until after it has been 
assessed

The consultation will close on 31 January 2025, 23:59.

Recommendation 2 of Dr Melissa 
McCullough’s

Independent Review

Page 55

https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Independent-review-of-investigations-by-PSOW-into-Code-of-Conduct-complaints.pdf


If you need this document in another format, 
please contact us at
communications@ombudsman.wales

Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn y Gymraeg. 

This document is also available in Welsh.

Page 56



Introduction

Following the discovery of the 
inappropriate use of social media by a 
former team manager in the spring of 
this year, concerns were raised about 
the impartiality and independence of 
the office, particularly in relation to 
the handling of complaints about local 
councillors who may have breached 
the Code of Conduct for members. 

The Public Services Ombudsman 
for Wales (“PSOW”) therefore 
commissioned an independent review, 
to establish whether processes, 
delegations, and decisions in relation 
to the assessment and investigation 
of complaints by the Code of Conduct 
Team, and the former team manager, 
had been sound and free from political 
bias. 

Dr Melissa McCullough¹ was appointed 
to lead the review. 

₁ Dr Melissa McCullough is the Commissioner for Standards for the Northern Ireland Assembly (since 2020) and also the 
Commissioner for Standards for the Jersey and Guernsey States Assemblies (since March 2023).

Page 57



Key Findings from the 
Independent Review

The Review concluded that:

•	 The PSOW’s Code of Conduct 
processes and delegations are 
robust, in terms of safeguarding, 
fairness and impartiality.  They are 
systematic, well documented and 
supplemented with appropriate 
guidance and the reasoning for 
decisions is required to be recorded 
and explained, as applicable. 

•	 All decision-making is based solely 
on evidence, facts, and solid, well-
articulated reasoning and, as such, 
there was no evidence of political 
bias.  The case review found no 
evidence that the decision-making 
on any of the cases reviewed was 
influenced by any political affiliation 
of the person who made the 
complaint and/or the member who 
was complained about. 

•	 There was no evidence that the 
former team manager expressed 
her personal views on political 
matters “akin to her social 
media posts” in the office and/
or inappropriately influenced 
any other staff members, in the 
performance of their duties under 
the Local Government Act 2000. 

The review made recommendations 
to improve the current safeguards 
for ensuring fairness and impartiality.  
Lessons learned were also identified 
to lessen the risk of this type of thing 
happening again in the future.  

Page 58



PSOW Response

The Public Services Ombudsman 
for Wales welcomed the report and 
accepted all of the recommendations 
and the lessons learned in the Report.

Recommendation 2 of the Report was 
as follows:

“(2) Accused Member not informed 
of complaint until after assessment: 
in the interests of fairness and 
transparency, it is recommended that 
the PSOW considers reverting to the 
previous practice of notifying the 
Accused Member of the complaint 
once it is received. This would also 
protect the PSOW from criticism in 
that regard, which might arise from 
circumstances in which the Accused 
Member is unsighted of the complaint 
and learns of its existence via a 
third party or the media. If the PSOW 
decides to revert to the previous 
practice, the process manual will need 
to be amended accordingly”. 
  
This issue was considered in terms 
of the fairness of the process.  The 
PSOW’s current practice is that a 
member who is complained about 
(“Accused Member”) is not informed 
about the complaint until after 
the assessment process has been 
completed and the complaint is either 
rejected or is deemed to have met 

the 2-stage test for an investigation 
to commence.  If it is decided not to 
investigate, the Accused Member 
is provided with a redacted copy 
of the statement of reasons but 
generally does not receive a copy 
of the complaint.  If it is decided to 
investigate, the Accused Member is 
provided with a redacted copy of the 
complaint when they are informed of 
the PSOW’s decision to investigate the 
complaint. 

Previous to the process referred to 
above, the PSOW would have notified 
the Accused Member of the complaint 
once it was received.  Prior to taking 
the decision to change the process, 
the PSOW consulted with Monitoring 
Officers via the Local Government 
Monitoring Officers’ Group network to 
explain the reasons for the change.  
The chief reason was to reduce 
unnecessary worry for members on 
complaints which are not ultimately 
investigated.  Another reason was that 
notification to the member of the full 
complaint on receipt of the complaint 
sometimes prompted the member to 
begin gathering their own evidence to 
defend their position and this also led 
to some “tit for tat” complaints being 
made and involved pre-assessment 
discussions with the Accused Member.  
PSOW were of the view that changing 

Page 59



the approach to the current one was a 
more efficient use of resources.  After 
trialling this new approach for a few 
months, no concerns were raised by 
Monitoring Officers, and this process 
was adopted. 

Code of Conduct 
Complaints data

The PSOW publishes annual 
complaints data in its Annual Reports.  

During 2023/24, we assessed 311² 
complaints about the Code of 
Conduct, of which 48 (approximately 
15%) were investigated and 263 were 
closed at the assessment stage of our 
process (approximately 85%).  

In line with our Key Performance 
Indicators³ we aim to close cases 
at the assessment stage of our 
process or take decisions to start 
investigations within 6 weeks of 
having all the information we need 
from a complainant.  

PSOW’s response to this 
recommendation

As part of its response to this 
Recommendation, the PSOW is 
consulting on this aspect of its 
procedure.  

This consultation seeks the views of 
Monitoring Officers, One Voice Wales, 
the WLGA, members of county and 
county borough councils, community 
& town councils, fire and rescue 
authorities, national park authorities 
and police and crime panels in Wales 
via these representative groups, 
the President of the Adjudication 
Panel for Wales and local standards 
committees.  

The responses to this consultation, 
together with evidence gathered on 
the practice of other regulatory bodies 
who undertake work of a similar nature 
to PSOW’s Code of Conduct work and 
any resource implications for PSOW 
will be carefully considered before the 
PSOW decides whether to revert back 
to its previous practice.  

₂ Closed Code of Conduct Complaints – Page 28 of PSOW’s Annual Report for 2023/24

₃ Key Performance Indicators are shown on Page 128 of PSOW’s Annual Report for 2023/24Page 60

https://www.ombudsman.wales/annual-report-accounts/
https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2024/08/Annual-Report-and-Accounts-2023-24.pdf
https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2024/08/Annual-Report-and-Accounts-2023-24.pdf
https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2024/08/Annual-Report-and-Accounts-2023-24.pdf


Consultation Questions

1.	 Do you consider that the PSOW 
should continue its current practice 
of notifying the Accused Member 
of a complaint once it has been 
closed at the assessment stage 
of its process or when notifying an 
Accused Member of a decision to 
start an investigation? 

If so, please outline your reasons for 
holding this view.  

What effects do you think there 
would be of continuing this 
practice?  

2.	 Do you consider that the PSOW 
should revert back to its previous 
practice of notifying the Accused 
Member of a complaint once it has 
been received? 

If so, please outline your reasons for 
holding this view.  

What effects do you think there 
would be of adopting this practice? 

3.	 We have asked these specific 
questions to help us respond 
to Recommendation 2 of the 
Independent Review.  If you have 
other comments to make about this 
specific Recommendation, please 
outline them for us. 

How to Respond

Please submit your comments by 31 
January 2025 by emailing responses 
to communications@ombudsman.
wales.

Privacy Statement

For this consultation we may publish 
a summary of the responses but 
will remove personal data before 
publication.  We will not publish 
individual responses.  Read more 
about what we do with personal data 
in our Privacy Notice. 

Page 61

https://www.ombudsman.wales/privacy-notice/


Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae

Pencoed

CF35 5LJ

Tel: 	                                     0300 790 0203
Website:			   www.ombudsman.wales
Email: 	  		  ask@ombudsman.wales 
Follow us on X:	          @OmbudsmanWalesPage 62



 
 
 

1. PURPOSE 

To provide the Committee with a copy of the Annual Report of the Adjudication 
Panel for Wales 2023/24 for consideration and discussion. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Committee notes the APW’s annual report at Appendix 1. 
 

3. KEY ISSUES 
 

3.1 The APW is an independent tribunal established under Part III of the Local 
Government Act 2000 
 

3.2 The APW has two statutory functions in relation to breaches of the Code of 
Conduct: 

 
a) to consider references from the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales 

(PSOW), following the investigation of allegations that a member has 
failed to comply with their authority’s Code of Conduct; and 

 
b) to consider appeals from members against the decisions of local 

authority standards committees that they have breached the Code of 
Conduct. 
 

3.3 The APW publishes a report annually setting out its performance and progress, 
case summaries of determinations, business priorities and expenditure. A copy 
of the report for the year 2023/24 is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

4. CONSULTEES 
 

James Williams, Chief Officer Law & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
 

5. AUTHOR AND CONTACT DETAILS 

Peter Easy, Chair, on behalf of the Standards Committee  

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Appendix 1 - Annual Report of the Adjudication Panel for Wales 2023/24 

SUBJECT: Annual Report of the Adjudication Panel 
for Wales 2023/24 

MEETING: 
DATE: 

Standards Committee 
16th December 2024 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Adjudication Panel for Wales
Annual Report
Year 2023 – 2024

Page 65



2

Contents

Foreword		  3

Section 1	 About Us 	 4

Section 2	 Performance and Progress	 7

Section 3	 Case Summaries	 11

Section 4	 Business Priorities	 14

Section 5	 Expenditure	 15

  © Crown Copyright 2024, Welsh Government, WG50250, Digital ISBN 978-1-83625-308-2 
Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg hefyd / This document is also available in Welsh 
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg / We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh

Page 66



3

Foreword
This is my ninth and final report as President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales (“APW”). 
The report covers the period 1 April 2023 – 31 March 2024.

We aim to ensure that the Panel serves the public interest by dealing with any disputes both 
efficiently and effectively. We make every effort to ensure that all those involved in the dispute 
feel that the dispute has been fairly resolved within as short a timescale as is reasonable. 
We are conscious that the public must have confidence that any breaches of the Code of 
Conduct will be dealt with fairly in order to uphold trust and confidence in local democracy.

I am conscious that my opening words to the foreword in the last annual report promised that 
it would be my last report; there is many a slip ‘twixt cup and lip as the proverb puts it. Or in 
other words, things do not always go as planned and my retirement as President was one of 
those things. I am delighted to welcome my successor, Judge Meleri Tudur, to the Panel. It is 
a time of great change for justice in Wales and I have no doubt that Judge Tudur will lead the 
Panel successfully through its next phase with effect from 1 July 2024.

This past year has been busy for the APW; there is no underlying theme to be drawn from 
the cases we have considered this year. However, it is important to recognise that a tiny 
minority of councillors find themselves dealing with the APW. Out of 1254 councillors, 
slightly over 0.5% ended up having their cases considered by the APW. More were dealt with 
at a local level, either through local resolution or by standards committees. By any measure, 
this demonstrates that the overwhelming majority of councillors comply with the Code of 
Conduct or if there is a breach, it is minor and easily rectified. I thank all of those involved 
in standards work, including the often unsung monitoring officers and clerks to the council, 
and One Voice Wales who assist in training councillors on the Code of Conduct, for their time 
and effort helping members understand their duties.

It has been noted that more councillors are failing to respond to references by the 
Ombudsman to the Panel. By failing to respond, councillors are effectively not disputing 
the reference, which is more likely to result in a decision made on paper. As the process is 
adversarial, if councillors choose not to take part, there is no-one to cross-examine witnesses 
and no hearing to observe, though it is open to the Panel to hold a hearing anyway in order for 
its members to ask questions or hear oral submissions. The principle of open justice is met 
in such circumstances by the publication of the full decision report, setting out the reasons 
for the decision and the evidence relied upon. The unanswered question is why councillors 
are choosing not to respond; is it because they have resigned and erroneously believe that 
will end the process? Or because they accept the Ombudsman’s report? Or for some other 
reason? This may be an area for future exploration by the Standards Forum, Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales or indeed the Panel itself.

Any questions or comments arising as to any aspect of the workings of the Panel, or as to 
the contents of the Report, are most welcome and should in the first instance be addressed 
to the Registrar. 

Claire Sharp 
President, Adjudication Panel for Wales

Page 67



4

Section 1 – About Us

In this section:

•	 Basis for the APW
•	 The APW’s Function
•	 The APW’s Regulations
•	 The APW’s Process
•	 Members of the APW
•	 Appointments
•	 Training
•	 Contacting the APW
•	 Accessing the APW

Basis for the APW
The Adjudication Panel for Wales (APW) is an independent tribunal that has been set up 
to determine alleged breaches against an authority’s statutory Code of Conduct by elected 
and co-opted members of Welsh county, county borough and community councils, fire and 
national park authorities.

The APW was established under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000.

The APW’s Function
The Code of Conduct for an authority provides its members with a set of standards expected 
of them in public life. The code of conduct covers various requirements as to how members 
should conduct themselves and includes requirements in relation to equality, personal and 
prejudicial interests, confidential information, their authority’s resources and the need to avoid 
bringing their office or authority into disrepute.

The APW has two statutory functions in relation to breaches of the Code of Conduct:

•	 to form case or interim case tribunals (“Case Tribunals”) to consider references from the 
Public Service Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW), following the investigation of allegations 
that a member has failed to comply with their authority’s Code of Conduct; and

•	 to consider appeals from members against the decisions of local authority standards 
committees that they have breached the Code of Conduct (“Appeal Tribunals”).

The APW’s Regulations
The APW operates in accordance with its procedural regulations and other associated 
legislation. The regulations ensure that all cases heard by the APW are treated fairly, 
consistently, promptly and justly. They ensure that everyone who comes before the APW 
clearly understands the steps they must take so that the facts of the dispute and the relevant 
arguments can be presented effectively to the APW. They also ensure that every party to a 
case understands the arguments of the other party and can respond to them.

Page 68



5

APW’s procedures are governed by the following legislation:

•	 The Local Government Act 2000 (as amended);
•	 The Adjudications by Case Tribunals and Interim Case Tribunals (Wales) Regulations 2001 

(as amended), and
•	 The Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards 

Committees (Wales) Regulations 2001 (as amended)).

The APW’s Process
Anyone wishing to respond to a reference from the PSOW or to make an application for 
permission to appeal to the APW must complete and send the relevant form to the APW. 

At an APW hearing the panel is composed of a legally qualified chairperson and 2 lay 
members. Legally qualified members can also sit as a lay member. APW hearings are normally 
held in public and take place near to the authority area. 

The APW publishes its decisions on the website for the APW. Decisions of Case Tribunals can 
be appealed on limited grounds to the High Court. Permission to appeal to the High Court must 
first be sought from the High Court.

Full information and guidance about the APW and its procedures, are provided on the website 
for the APW. Alternatively, please contact the APW administration for further information or if 
you would like to receive publications in a different format. The contact details can be found 
on page 6.

Members of the APW
Appointments to the APW are made by the First Minister after consideration 
of recommendations made by the Judicial Appointments Commission.

President	� The President has judicial responsibility for the APW and 
its members.

Deputy President	� The Deputy President supports the President and fulfils the duties 
of President if the President is unable to carry out her duties, 
either temporarily or permanently.

Legal Members	� Legal members are qualified lawyers and have responsibility for 
conducting proceedings at hearings and advising the administration 
on matters of law. Legal members write APW decisions and give 
directions where necessary.

Lay Members	� Lay members have a wide range of knowledge and experience 
relevant to the work of the APW.

Administration	� The day-to-day administration is largely delegated to the 
administration which deals with all the preliminary paperwork and the 
processing of applications to the APW. The administration consults 
the President and/or legal members on all legal points arising during 
the preliminary pre-hearing stages of the proceedings and sends 
rulings and directions in writing to the parties. The administration acts 
as a point of contact for chairpersons, members and APW users and 
attends hearings to help with the efficient running of proceedings.

Page 69



6

Appointments
During this period, we have appointed 2 new legal members, who are due to be appointed 
President and Deputy President in the following financial year.

Contacting the APW
To contact the APW Administration:

APW Address:	 Registrar to the Panel 
	 Adjudication Panel for Wales  
	 Welsh Tribunals Unit 
	 PO BOX 100 
	 Llandrindod Wells 
	 LD1 9BW

APW Telephone Helpline:	 03000 259805 
APW E-mail:	 adjudication.panel@gov.wales 

Accessing the APW
The APW is happy to communicate with you in Welsh or English. If a Welsh speaker is not 
immediately available then we will arrange for a Welsh-speaking member of staff to phone 
you back.

You can choose to have your hearing conducted in Welsh or English. If your first language is 
not Welsh or English and you wish to speak in your first language during the hearing, we can 
arrange for an interpreter to be present. If you need a sign language interpreter to attend the 
hearing, we will arrange this.

If you or anyone you are bringing to the hearing has any other access requirements that may 
affect our arrangements for the hearing, provisions will be made.

To enable arrangements for interpreters or to make provisions for any additional needs 
of attendees, sufficient notice must be given to the administration. 

President 
Claire Sharp

Deputy President 
Siân McRobie

Legal members Lay members

Page 70

mailto:adjudication.panel%40wales.gsi.gov.uk?subject=


7

Section 2 – Performance and Progress

In this section:

•	 Numbers and statistics
•	 Hearings Data
•	 Onward appeals
•	 Achievement against key performance indicators
•	 Complaints

Numbers and Statistics
A Tribunal year runs from April to March. As the numbers of cases received are relatively low, 
figures are given for a 5-year period to allow for comparison.

The following statistics are collated:

•	 Number of references and appeals received 
•	 Type of applications received and registered
•	 Number of applications finalised 
•	 Outcome of applications.

Graph 2.1: Number of references and appeals received by year April 2019 – March 2024 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

References

Appeals

2023-2024 2022-2023 2021-2022 2020-2021 2019-2020

Page 71



8

Graph 2.2: Number of references and appeals decided by year April 2019 – March 2024

Chart 2.3: Outcomes of references and appeals April 2019 – March 2024

The chart below shows the outcome of references and appeals decided by the Adjudication 
Panel over the last 5 years.

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

References

Appeals

2023-2024 2022-2023 2021-2022 2020-2021 2019-2020

Disqualified

Suspended

Dimissed

35%

42%

12%

12%

Appeal Refused

Page 72



9

Graph 2.4: Breaches by type April 2019 – March 2024  

Hearings data
During 2023-2024:

Type	 Length (in days)
Reference	 5 hearing days
Appeal	 1 hearing day

0 listing conferences took place in relation to these cases. 

Onward appeals
Applications for permission to appeal a decision of a Case Tribunal or Interim Case 
Tribunal can be made on limited grounds to the High Court. Over the period of this report, 
no applications for permission were made.

0

5

10

15

20

25

D
is

cl
os

ur
e 

of
co

nf
id

en
tia

l i
nf

or
m

at
io

n

B
rin

gi
ng

 o
ffi

ce
/

au
th

or
ity

 in
to

 d
is

re
pu

te

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 s
ho

w
 re

sp
ec

t/
eq

ua
lit

y/
bu

lly
in

g

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 c
o-

op
er

at
e

w
ith

 O
m

bu
ds

m
an

M
is

us
e 

of
 a

ut
ho

rit
y’

s 
re

so
ur

ce
s

M
is

us
e 

of
 p

os
iti

on

Ve
xa

tio
us

 o
r

m
al

ic
io

us
 c

om
pl

ai
nt

s

Fa
ilu

re
 to

 d
is

cl
os

e 
in

te
re

st
an

d/
or

 w
ith

dr
aw

Page 73



10

Achievement against key performance indicators
To monitor how effectively services are delivered, we have key performance indicators aimed 
at measuring two key aspects of our business; the speed of our service and the quality of 
service through customer satisfaction.

To measure the speed of our service, we have a series of primary performance indicators 
based on the time taken to process an application – from receipt to the hearing or disposal 
(see below).

Speed of our service 2023-2024 

Complaints
The APW received and concluded 0 formal complaints during the reporting period.

Target: �100% of notices of hearing issued to 
respondent/appellant at least 15 working days 
prior to the hearing and at least 5 working days 
prior to any adjourned hearing

Target: �100% of notices of hearing issued to witnesses 
within 10 working days of the hearing

Target: �90% of decision reports issued within 
30 working days of the hearing 

Target: �75% of applications discharged within 
12 months

Target: �95% of queries dealt with or cases accepted 
within 10 working days of receipt

Target achieved in 
100% of cases

Target achieved in 
100% of cases

Target achieved in 
100% of cases

Target achieved in 
100% of cases

Target achieved in 
100% of cases

Page 74



11

Section 3 – Case summaries

In this section:

•	 References
•	 Interim Matters
•	 Appeals

References

APW/015/2022-023/CT  
Newport City Council

The allegations were that the former councillor had conducted himself in a matter which 
could reasonably be regarded as bringing his office or the relevant authority into disrepute. 
The former councillor had been convicted of the criminal offence of soliciting (having pleaded 
guilty), and significant publicity had surrounded the conviction.

The case tribunal unanimously found that the former councillor had breached paragraph 6(1)
(a) of the Code of Conduct; while the conviction arose from behaviour in his private capacity, 
the former councillor had failed to promote confidence in the role of councillor or the work 
of the relevant authority in preventing such activities. The Tribunal found that the former 
councillor’s behaviour had brought both his office and the authority into disrepute. The case 
tribunal did not find additional breaches of paragraph 6(1)(a) by the councillor’s failure to 
inform the relevant authority of his intention to plead guilty or his failure to resign immediately.

The case tribunal unanimously concluded that the former councillor should be disqualified for 
nine months from being or becoming a member of a relevant authority.

APW/001/2023-024/CT 
St Harmon Community Council

The allegations were that the former councillor had conducted himself in a matter which 
could reasonably be regarded as bringing his office or the relevant authority into disrepute. 
It was also alleged that he had also acted in such a way as to create an advantage for himself 
or avoid a disadvantage for himself.

Audit Wales had submitted a report on the relevant authority, in which it criticised both the 
council and individuals, including the former councillor who was the chair. Audit Wales found 
that the former councillor had attempted to mislead it to cover up poor governance at the 
council and reduce the likely criticism of his own conduct. This was done in connection with 
the expenditure of council money; the former councillor was found to have failed to explain 
how a document incorrectly purported to be the original tender notice was provided to 
Audit Wales. The tribunal did not find that the former councillor had created the notice, but did 
find that he gave wholly different accounts about what had happened and had attempted to 
mislead Audit Wales. The Tribunal also found that the former councillor had misled Audit Wales 
about whether a document had been approved by the Council after it had been amended.

Page 75



12

The case tribunal unanimously found that the former councillor’s efforts to mislead Audit 
Wales brought both his office and the relevant authority into disrepute, and that he had done 
so in order to benefit himself and present a more positive picture of the council’s governance 
and accounting practices. The tribunal found that the conduct was deliberate and was both a 
breach of paragraphs 6(1)(a) and 7(a) of the Code of Conduct. The case tribunal unanimously 
concluded that the former councillor should be disqualified for 15 months from being or 
becoming a member of a relevant authority.

APW/013/2022-023/CT  
Powys County Council 

The allegations were that the former councillor had breached several paragraphs of the 
Code of Conduct through sustained misconduct.

The former councillor had sent a large volume of emails to various members and officers 
within the relevant authority on a number of issues, making allegations of corruption and 
other complaints. As a result, the council provided the former councillor with a detailed 
written response (finding that the complaints were without merit) and asked her not to repeat 
such allegations without evidence to support them. The former councillor was directed to 
the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales and asked not to contact anyone below the level 
of Head of Service in the council to manage her correspondence.

The former councillor ignored the advice, and continued to send large numbers of emails to 
a variety of members and officers, making similar complaints, and demanding answers on 
the same day as sending her emails. The council gave the former councillor a single point of 
contact to deal with her correspondence and reminded that her behaviour could be viewed 
as harassment. The former councillor was told that substantial time and resources were being 
incurred by the council dealing with her repeated complaints and her behaviour was seen as 
intimidating. The former councillor continued making complaints and demanding responses, 
while refusing to accept the answers given.

The former councillor at a full Council meeting publicly made derogatory comments about the 
council and officers, and specifically named one, saying that he was not worth what he was 
paid and that he had bullied her. In addition, the former councillor was found to have disclosed 
confidential information provided to her as a councillor to third parties and other members on 
at least three occasions.

The case tribunal unanimously found that the former councillor had breached 
paragraphs 4(b), 4(c), 5(a), 6(1)(a), 6(1)(d), 7(b)(i) and 7(b)(iv) of the Code of Conduct. 
It unanimously concluded that the former councillor should be disqualified for 18 months from 
being or becoming a member of a relevant authority.

APW/0002/2023-024/CT 
Mumbles Community Council

The allegations were that the former councillor had conducted herself in a matter which could 
reasonably be regarded as bringing her office or the relevant authority into disrepute.

The former councillor had abused two individuals on a public Facebook page. It appeared 
that there was a link to her role as a councillor from the wording of the exchange, and the 
exchange was later deleted. The former councillor also resigned from her role as councillor 
a few hours after the posts on Facebook. The language used by the former councillor was 
gratuitously offensive and abusive towards the individuals.

Page 76



13

The case tribunal found that the former councillor had not intended to give the impression 
that she was acting in the role of councillor when abusing the two individuals, and she had 
acted in her personal capacity. It concluded that the exchange largely related to historical and 
personal animosity between those involved, and while the language could not be condoned 
in any circumstances, it did not bring the office of councillor or the relevant authority into 
dispute. This finding was because due to the nature of the exchange, a reasonable reader 
would conclude that a particularly unpleasant private dispute was being aired in public. It was 
a single incident followed by a swift resignation and with no press attention.

The case tribunal unanimously found that there had been no breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of 
the Code of Conduct.

Interim matters
In addition, the Panel dealt with an interim case tribunal. Details are not provided within this 
report as a full case tribunal will be dealing with the case in the coming financial year.

Appeals

APW/003/2023-024/AT 
Mumbles Community Council

An appeal was received against the determination of the standards committee that the 
former councillor had breached the Code of Conduct. The grounds of appeal were limited to 
whether the facts as found at the standards committee meeting established on the balance 
of probabilities that the former councillor had made frivolous, malicious and vexatious 
complaints, whether the findings as a whole showed that the former councillor had breached 
paragraphs 6(1)(a) and 6(1)(d) of the Code of Conduct, and if a breach of the Code of 
Conduct was found, whether the sanction of censure was endorsed.

The appeal tribunal unanimously found that the facts found by the standards committee 
did establish that the facts found at the standards committee meeting established that the 
former councillor had made frivolous, malicious and vexatious complaints. The complaints 
were found to be complaints about council decisions and made without seeking any advice 
about the Code of Conduct in order to understand that it was not appropriate to complain 
about council decisions in such a way. The appeal tribunal further found that the remaining 
complaints had been malicious and vexatious, as well as frivolous, as the former councillor 
failed to follow the guidance she had received and wasted the Ombudsman’s time and 
resources on complaints that were made without sufficient grounds. The complaints were 
not made in the public interest. The appeal tribunal also noted that the former councillor was 
willing to breach confidentiality knowingly and flagrantly.

The appeal tribunal unanimously found that the former councillor had breached both 
paragraphs 6(1)(a) and 6(1)(d) of the Code of Conduct, and endorsed the censure imposed 
by the standards committee. It added that it was concerned that the former councillor had 
repeatedly mentioned her appointment as a current Justice of the Peace but had behaved 
in a way found to be inappropriate for someone holding a judicial office.

APW/005/2023-024/AT

One application for permission to appeal was refused by the President on the basis that it had 
no reasonable prospect of success.

Page 77



14

Section 4 – Business Priorities

In this section:

•	 Business priorities for 2024-2025

It is important that the APW continues to develop in order to deliver the best possible service 
for our customers. This section is about how the APW will build on its achievements through 
focusing on business priorities and our commitment to our customers.

Business Priorities 2024-2025
•	 Plan and deliver an all-members training event;

•	 Continue to deliver an effective and efficient service, meeting key performance indicators;

•	 Following the outcome of the Law Commission report on Welsh tribunals and the review 
of the Ethical Framework, and the Welsh Government White Paper in response, action any 
changes as required by the legislature.

Page 78



15

Section 5 – Expenditure

In this section:

•	 Expenditure for 2023-2024

Expenditure for 2023-2024

Content      Amount

Members Fees and Expenses (proceedings and training) £33,593

Tribunal events (hearing and other costs) £270

Total £33,863

Rounded to the nearest £1

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

 

1. PURPOSE 

To provide the Committee with the opportunity to review the notes from the Chair 
following his attendance at the National Forum for Chairs of Standards 
Committees on 24th June 2024.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

That the Committee notes the contents of the report and Appendix 1. 
 

3. KEY ISSUES 
 

3.1 The Chair attended the National Forum for Chairs of Standards Committees on 
24th June 2024 and delivered a report to the Committee at its last meeting on 
16th September 2024. 
 

3.2 Following clarification with the National Forum, the Chair would like to present a 
copy of the notes of that meeting for the consideration of the committee. 
 

 
3.3 A copy of the notes are attached at Appendix 1. 
  

 

4. CONSULTEES 
 

James Williams, Chief Officer Law & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
 
 

5. AUTHOR AND CONTACT DETAILS 

Peter Easy, Chair, on behalf of the Standards Committee  

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Appendix 1 – Notes from the National Forum for Chairs of Standards  
Committees 

 

SUBJECT: Notes from the National Forum for Chairs 
of Standards Committees 

MEETING: 
DATE: 

Standards Committee 
16th December 2024 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Standards Committees Chairs Forum - Wales 

  Monday, 24th June 2024 @ 2pm, via Teams 

Notes 

 

 

1. Chairs Announcements 

The chair welcomed:  

• Judge Claire Sharp the outgoing president of the Adjudication Panel for 

Wales (APL) and her successor Judge Meleri Tudur. 

• Paul Egan, Deputy Chief Executive of One Voice Wales (OVW) the 

principal organisation for community and town councils in Wales. 

• Michelle Morris – Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW). 

Newly appointed Standards Committee Chairs. 

• Peter Easy, recently appointed as Chair of Standards Committee for 

Monmouthshire Council.  

• Sue Maughan, recently appointed as Chair of Standards for Bridgend 

Council. 

• Rhys Davies, recently appointed as Chair of Standards for the Isle of 

Anglesey Council. 

 

2. Notes from the previous meeting – 29th January 2024.  

The notes of the previous meeting were agreed, and actions confirmed as 

completed. The following points were highlighted. 

• Chairs of Corporate Joint Committee Standards Committees to be invited 

to the Forum if they do not already attend as a member of one of their 

constituent councils’ standards committees. 

• Payments to co-opted members was a matter for local determination and 

the Forum must work within its terms of reference. 

• Standards Committee Members are not required to be DBS checked. 

Page 83



 

 

 

3. Judge Claire Sharp, the outgoing president of the Adjudication Panel for 

Wales (APL) and her successor Judge Meleri Tudur. 

Judge Claire Sharp talked about the issues she looked for when deciding whether to 

permit an appeal against a decision by a standards committee and common failings. 

She did not discuss the reasons why certain Judgments were made. She said that 

the legal test was whether there was no reasonable prospect of success but noted 

that this was not defined within APW legislation or regulations. Judge Sharp adopted 

the tests from other jurisdictions using the same wording. Judge Sharp added that 

she took the Appellant’s case at its highest when reviewing an application to appeal, 

unless it was conclusively disproved by the evidence before her, unsupported by 

reasonable argument or fanciful allegations have been made. 

Her decision cannot be appealed other than JR. APW have recommended to the 

Penn Review that the process altered because timescales are not practical and 

excludes the PSOW. 

Points to consider are: 

When setting out a decision notice, state: 

• what the committee decides are the key points and findings of fact, 

• what arguments are put forward,  

• what led you to that decision. 

In other words, show your workings/reasoning.  

• State who attended and if they left during the hearing. A summary of 

key points would be helpful.  

• You cannot conflate two matters and only provide evidence of one e.g., 

you cannot state that there was bullying and harassment and just 

provide the reasoning for a finding of harassment. This could lead to an 

appeal. 

• Helpful to state what are agreed facts and what are disputed and found 

by the committee. 

Page 84



 

 

• Remember the Sanctions Guidance is there to assist and it is sensible 

to refer to it – it will help the President to know if the correct process 

was followed. 

 

APW cannot provide legal advice. All the information is on the website. Same as with 

the court service. 

The judge was asked, if the standards committee meeting was recorded, would she 

look at the recording? She said that the appellant could forward it and it would be 

admissible however in reality she would not look at the whole meeting. Normally if 

it’s key, a transcript should be provided, but that is unlikely at the permission to 

appeal stage. However, it was an option available if the recording was provided by 

the Appellant, and she would personally look at it if referred to the precise time code 

of whatever was being complained about and it related to an issue in the appeal. It is 

unlikely that the whole recording would be viewed. 

Judge Meleri Tudur concurred with the points made and looked forward to taking up 

the role as president of the APW. 

 

4. Paul Egan, Deputy Chief Executive of One Voice Wales (OVW) the 

principal organisation for community and town councils in Wales. 

The presentation and Q&A were in response to a request made at a previous 

meeting of the Forum and included the following: 

• Information about the support offered by One Voice Wales to its 
community and town councils. 

• The resources and support it had to offer Town and Community Councils 
in relation to standards of behaviour.  

• The training offered on behaviour / code of conduct for members. Including 
method of delivery, frequency of sessions held, and the cost.  

• The support offered to community and town council clerks and members 
with reference to a local resolution protocol that is encouraged by the 
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.  

 

5. Michelle Morris, Public Services Ombudsman for Wales – Update  

• Casework Update (2023/24 and Q1) 

Page 85



 

 

• Independent Review (update) 

• Local Resolution Procedures (review) 

Casework 2023/24  

• Another busy year – more complaints than before across both Code and 

Public Service Complaints – but no additional resources to deal with them. 

• Code Complaints form about 10% of total caseload for the office. 

• 328 code complaints - 16% increase. 

• Investigated a higher proportion of complaints than last year (48) up 13%. 

• Referred 21 cases (most in one year) up 43%. 

• 85% of breaches upheld (by SC or APW). 

• Majority (55%) about ‘Promotion of Equality & Respect’ which is lower than 

last year (61%). 

 

Current Year (end of May) 

Caseload is 79 (highest caseload we have ever held) (10 Suspended e.g., 

police investigations, medical reasons). 

Focus on reducing time taken to investigate (within 12 months) and closed 

significant number of Aged Cases last year. 

However, caseloads remain high, and we are continuing to take action to 

reduce these and close cases within 12 months. (Bank Workers, Extra IOs). 

Code Team also support Hearings & Appeals, so these too impact on 

investigation times.  

Independent Review  

• Terms of reference on PSOW Website. 

• Lead by Dr Melissa McCullough (Standards Commissioner for NI 

Assembly). 

• Aim to publish final report in Autumn. 

• Final report to be presented to Senedd Finance Committee (likely report 

back to Senedd). 

• Continue to engage with NSCF & MOG regarding outcomes and any 

actions arising – prior to publication of the report. 

Local Resolution Procedures 

• Plan to work with Councils and MOs to review existing LRPs and to review 

and reissue PSOW Guidance in Autumn. 

• Intention is to ensure a consistent approach and understanding of issues 

which are appropriate for LR and the ‘serious’ issues which should be 

referred to PSOW. 

 

Page 86



 

 

6. AOB  

Experiences to date indicated that the group leader’s duty (and the need to 

report thereon) had been embraced. There was some complexity with 

independent members who were not part of a group. 

  

7.  Date of next meeting 

• Monday, 27th January 2025, 2pm – 4pm on Teams. 

• Monday 23 June 2025, 2pm – 4pm on Teams. 

Page 87



 

 

 

 

Fforwm Cadeiryddion y Pwyllgorau Safonau - Cymru 

Dydd Llun, 24 Mehefin 2024 am 2pm, dros Teams 

Nodiadau 

 

 

1. Cyhoeddiadau’r Cadeirydd  

Croesawodd y Cadeirydd:  

• Y Barnwr Claire Sharp, llywydd presennol Panel Dyfarnu Cymru a 

oedd ar fin gadael, a’i holynydd, y Barnwr Meleri Tudur.  

• Paul Egan, Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr Un Llais Cymru, y prif sefydliad ar 

gyfer cynghorau tref a chymuned yng Nghymru.  

• Michelle Morris -  Ombwdsman Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru 

(OGCC).  

Cadeiryddion Pwyllgorau Safonau newydd eu penodi.  

• Peter Easy, a oedd wedi cael ei benodi’n ddiweddar fel Cadeirydd 

Pwyllgor Safonau Cyngor Sir Fynwy.   

• Sue Maughan, a oedd wedi cael ei phenodi’n ddiweddar fel Cadeirydd 

Safonau Cyngor Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

• Rhys Davies, a oedd wedi cael ei benodi’n ddiweddar fel Cadeirydd 

Pwyllgor Safonau Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn. 

 

2. Nodiadau o’r cyfarfod blaenorol - 29 Ionawr 2024.  

Cytunwyd ar y nodiadau ar gyfer y cyfarfod blaenorol, a chadarnhawyd bod y 

camau gweithredu wedi’u cwblhau.  Amlygwyd y pwyntiau a ganlyn: 

• Gwahodd Cadeiryddion Pwyllgorau Safonau Cydbwyllgorau Corfforedig i’r 

Fforwm os nad ydynt eisoes yn mynychu fel aelod o un o bwyllgorau 

safonau eu cynghorau cyfansoddol.  

Page 88



 

 

• Roedd taliadau i aelodau cyfetholedig yn fater i’w benderfynu’n lleol ac 

roedd angen i’r Fforwm weithio o fewn ei gylch gorchwyl.  

• Nid oedd angen i aelodau’r Pwyllgor Safonau gael gwiriad y Gwasanaeth 

Datgelu a Gwahardd (GDG).  

 

3. Y Barnwr Claire Sharp, llywydd presennol Panel Dyfarnu Cymru a oedd 

ar fin gadael a’i holynydd, y Barnwr Meleri Tudur.  

Soniodd y Barnwr Claire Sharp am y materion yr oedd hi’n chwilio amdanynt wrth 

benderfynu p’un a ddylid caniatáu apêl yn erbyn penderfyniad a wnaed gan bwyllgor 

safonau a methiannau cyffredin.  

Ni thrafododd y rhesymau dros feirniadaethau penodol.  Eglurodd bod y prawf 

cyfreithiol yn ymwneud â’r gobaith rhesymol o lwyddiant, ond nododd nad oedd hyn 

yn cael ei ddiffinio o fewn deddfwriaethau neu reoliadau PDC. Roedd y Barnwr 

Sharp wedi mabwysiadu’r profion gan awdurdodaethau eraill gan ddefnyddio’r un 

geiriad.  Nododd y Barnwr Sharpe hefyd ei bod yn cymryd achos yr Apelydd ar ei 

uchaf wrth adolygu cais i apelio, oni bai bod yr achos yn cael ei wrthbrofi gan y 

dystiolaeth o’i blaen, heb gefnogaeth drwy ddadl neu dystiolaeth resymol neu’n cael 

ei ystyried yn honiadau ffansïol. 

Ni ellir apelio ei phenderfyniad gan eithrio Adolygiad Barnwrol.  Mae PDC wedi 

argymell i’r Adolygiad Penn y dylid addasu’r broses gan nad yw’r amserlenni’n 

ymarferol ac yn eithrio Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru. 

Pwyntiau i'w hystyried: 

Wrth amlinellu rhybudd o benderfyniad, nodwch:  

• benderfyniad y pwyllgor, y pwyntiau allweddol a chanfyddiadau ffeithiol,  

• pa ddadleuon a gyflwynwyd,  

• beth wnaeth arwain at y penderfyniad.  

Mewn geiriau eraill, dangoswch eich cyfrifiadau/rhesymau.   

• Nodwch pwy oedd yn bresennol a ph’un a wnaethant adael yn ystod y 

gwrandawiad.  Byddai crynodeb o’r pwyntiau allweddol yn ddefnyddiol.   

Page 89



 

 

• Ni allwch gyfuno dau fater a gallwch ond darparu tystiolaeth o un e.e., 

ni allwch nodi achos o fwlio ac aflonyddwch a darparu rheswm ar gyfer 

aflonyddwch yn unig.  Gallai hyn arwain at apêl.  

• Byddai’n ddefnyddiol nodi beth yw’r ffeithiau y cytunwyd arnynt a’r 

pethau sy’n destun dadl ac wedi cael eu nodi gan y pwyllgor.  

• Cofiwch fod y Canllawiau ar Gosbau ar gael i helpu a byddai’n 

synhwyrol cael golwg ar y rhain - bydd yn helpu’r Llywydd i wybod a 

gafodd y broses gywir ei dilyn.  

 

Ni all PDC ddarparu cyngor cyfreithiol.  Mae’r holl wybodaeth ar y wefan.  Mae hyn 

hefyd yn wir am y gwasanaeth llys.  

Gofynnwyd i’r barnwr, os oedd cyfarfod y pwyllgor safonau’n cael ei recordio, a 

fyddai hi’n gwylio’r recordiad?  Dywedodd y gallai’r apelydd anfon y recordiad 

ymlaen ati hi ac y byddai hynny’n dderbyniadwy, fodd bynnag, ni fyddai hi’n gwylio’r 

cyfarfod llawn mewn gwirionedd.  Fel arfer, os yw’n allweddol, dylid darparu 

trawsgrifiad, ond roedd hynny’n annhebygol ar y cam hawl i apelio.  Fodd bynnag, 

roedd yr opsiwn ar gael os yw’r Apelydd yn darparu’r fideo, a nododd y byddai hi’n 

cael golwg arno’n bersonol os oes cyfeiriad at yr amser penodol ar gyfer testun y 

gwyn a’i fod yn ymwneud â mater yn yr apêl.  Dywedodd ei bod yn annhebygol y 

byddai hi’n gwylio’r recordiad cyfan.  

Roedd y Barnwr Meleri Tudur yn cytuno â’r pwyntiau a wnaed ac yn edrych ymlaen 

at ymgymryd â’r rôl fel llywydd y PDC. 

 

4. Paul Egan, Dirprwy Brif Weithredwr Un Llais Cymru, y prif sefydliad ar 

gyfer cynghorau tref a chymuned yng Nghymru.  

Roedd y cyflwyniad a’r sesiwn holi ac ateb mewn ymateb i gais a wnaed 

mewn cyfarfod blaenorol o’r Fforwm ac yn cynnwys y canlynol:  

• Gwybodaeth am y gefnogaeth a gynigwyd gan Un Llais Cymru i’w 
gynghorau tref a chymuned.  

Page 90



 

 

• Yr adnoddau a’r gefnogaeth a gynigwyd i Gynghorau Tref a Chymuned 
mewn perthynas â safonau ymddygiad.   

• Yr hyfforddiant a gynigwyd ar y Cod Ymddygiad i Aelodau, gan gynnwys 
dulliau darparu, amlder y sesiynau, a’r costau.   

• Y gefnogaeth a gynigwyd i glercod ac aelodau cynghorau tref a chymuned 
mewn perthynas â gweithdrefn ddatrys leol a gaiff ei hannog gan 
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru.   

 

5. Michelle Morris - Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru - Y 

wybodaeth ddiweddaraf.  

• Y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am waith achos (2023/24 a C1)  

• Adolygiad Annibynnol (y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf)  

• Gweithdrefn Ddatrys Leol (adolygiad)  

Gwaith achos 2023/24  

• Blwyddyn brysur arall - mwy o gwynion nag erioed ar draws Cwynion Cod 

a Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus - ond dim adnoddau ychwanegol i ymdrin â 

hwy. 

• Mae Cwynion Cod yn ffurfio oddeutu 10% o gyfanswm y gwaith achos ar 

gyfer y swyddfa.  

• 328 o gwynion cod - cynnydd o 16%.  

• Ymchwiliwyd i gyfran uwch o gwynion o’i gymharu â’r llynedd (48), 

cynnydd o 13%.  

• Atgyfeiriwyd 21 o achosion (y mwyaf mewn un flwyddyn), cynnydd o 43%.  

• Cynhaliwyd 85% o achosion o dorri rheolau (gan Bwyllgorau Safonau neu 

PDC).  

• Roedd y mwyafrif (55%) yn ymwneud â ‘Hyrwyddo Cydraddoldeb a 

Pharch’ sy’n is na’r llynedd (61%).  

 

Y Flwyddyn Gyfredol (diwedd Mai) 

Roedd y llwyth achosion yn 79 (y llwyth achosion uchaf erioed i ni) (10 wedi’u 

hoedi, e.e. ymchwiliadau heddlu, rhesymau meddygol).  

Roedd ffocws ar leihau’r amser mae’n ei gymryd i ymchwilio (o fewn 12 mis) a 

chaewyd nifer uchel o Achosion Hŷn y llynedd.  

Fodd bynnag, roedd llwythi achosion yn parhau i fod yn uchel, ac roedd 

gwaith yn parhau i gymryd camau i leihau'r rhain a chau achosion o fewn 12 

mis.  (Gweithwyr Banc, Swyddogion Ymchwil ychwanegol).  

Mae’r Tîm Cod hefyd yn cefnogi Gwrandawiadau ac Apeliadau, gan fod y 

rhain hefyd yn cael effaith ar amseroedd ymchwil.   

Adolygiadau Annibynnol  

Page 91



 

 

• Roedd y Cylch Gorchwyl ar wefan Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau 

Cyhoeddus Cymru.  

• Caiff ei arwain gan Dr Melissa McCullough (y Comisiynydd Safonau ar 

gyfer Cynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon).  

• Anelir at gyhoeddi adroddiad terfynol yn yr Hydref.  

• Byddai’r adroddiad terfynol yn cael ei gyflwyno i Bwyllgor Cyllid y Senedd 

(gan adrodd yn ôl i’r Senedd mae’n debyg).  

• Parhau i ymgysylltu â NSCF ac MOG mewn perthynas â chanlyniadau ac 

unrhyw gamau gweithredu sy’n codi - cyn cyhoeddi’r adroddiad.  

Gweithdrefn Ddatrys Leol 

• Roedd cynlluniau i weithio gyda Chynghorau a Swyddogion Monitro i 

adolygu’r Gweithdrefnau Datrys Lleol presennol ac adolygu ac ailgyflwyno 

Canllawiau Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru yn yr hydref.  

• Y bwriad oedd sicrhau dull cyson a dealltwriaeth o faterion sy’n briodol ar 

gyfer Gweithdrefnau Datrys Lleol a’r materion ‘difrifol’ y dylid eu cyfeirio at 

Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru. 

 

6. Unrhyw Fater Arall 

Roedd y profiadau hyd yma’n awgrymu bod dyletswydd yr arweinydd grŵp 

(a’r angen i adrodd wedi hynny) wedi cael ei groesawu.  Roedd rhywfaint o 

gymhlethdod ag aelodau annibynnol nad oeddent yn rhan o grŵp.  

  

7. Dyddiad y Cyfarfod Nesaf 

• Dydd Llun, 27 Ionawr 2025, 2pm - 4pm dros Teams.  

• Dydd Llun, 23 Mehefin 2025, 2pm - 4pm dros Teams.  

Page 92



One Voice Wales

Code of Conduct
Presentation to the National 
Standards Committee Chairs 

Forum on 24 June 2024

P
age 93



Presentation Content

 

• Civility and Respect Support for Councils

• Type of Resources Shared with Councils

• Training Provision

• Local Resolution Protocol

• Mediation Training

• Advisory Service to Councils

Module 1, Webinar Version 2024 2

P
age 94



Documentation and 
Resources

• Member/Officer Protocol

• Bullying and Harassment Guide

• Recruitment and Retention Guide

• Civility and Respect Pledge

• Model Informal Resolution Protocol

• Finance and Governance Self-Assessment 
Toolkit

Module 1, Webinar Version 2024 3

P
age 95



Module 1, Webinar Version 2024 4

When signing the pledge, the Council 

must agree the following statements.

That the Council: 

✓has put in place a training programme 

for councillors and staff

✓has signed up to the Code of Conduct 

for Councillors

✓has good governance arrangements in 

place including staff contracts

✓will Seek professional help at early 

stages should civility and respect 

issues arise

✓will commit to calling out bullying and 

harassment when it happens

✓will continue to learn from best 

practice in the sector and aspire to 

Being a Role Model

P
age 96



Sharing of Information

• Website – new site being designed

• Area Committees/Larger Council’s Committee

• Training of Councillors

• Investigations – Consultancy Service

• Joint work with the Society of Local Council Clerks

• Conferences

P
age 97



Training Provision

• Code of Conduct Training Module –  significant number 
of councillors trained – Welsh Government funds two 
free places per council

• Mainly webinars but can offer face to face training for 
councils on a bespoke basis

• Have delivered training for councils funded by some 
county (borough) councils

• Code of Conduct sessions delivered  on a regular 
ongoing basis – between £40 and £60 per training place

Module 1, Webinar Version 2024 6

P
age 98



Local Resolution Protocol

• Latest version published in 2021

• All member councils provided with the protocol 
for adoption

• Practice Development Guidance planned

• Mediation Training available – take-up is low

Module 1, Webinar Version 2024 7

P
age 99



Other Types of Support

• Advisory Service

• Member of National Civility and Respect 
Group

• Range of training course available through 
NALC

P
age 100



National Civility and Respect Group

• Too many Councillors and Clerks were leaving the 

sector due to being treated with disrespect / bullying 

and worse.

• Impacted well-being of all involved

• The problem was hidden – nobody talked about it.

• Councillors left

• Clerks paid off with NDA (Non-Disclosure 

Agreement)

• Detrimental to the local community

Module 1, Webinar Version 2024 9

P
age 101



Any Questions?

Module 1, Webinar Version 2024 10

P
age 102



Un Llais Cymru

Cod Ymddygiad
Cyflwyniad i Fforwm y 

Cadeiryddion Pwyllgor Safonau 
Cenedlaethol ar 24 Mehefin 

2024

P
age 103



Cynnwys y Cyflwyniad

 

• Cefnogaeth Cwrteisi a Pharch i Gynghorau

• Math o Adnoddau a Rennir gyda Chynghorau

• Darpariaeth Hyfforddiant

• Protocol Penderfyniadau Lleol

• Hyfforddiant Cyfryngu

• Gwasanaeth Cynghori i Gynghorau

Modiwl 1, Fersiwn Gweminar 2024 2

P
age 104



Dogfennaeth ac Adnoddau

• Protocol Aelodau / Swyddogion

• Canllaw Bwlio ac Aflonyddu

• Canllaw Recriwtio a Chadw

• Addewid Cwrteisi a Pharch

• Model o Brotocol Datrysiad Anffurfiol 

• Pecyn Gwaith Hunanasesu Cyllid a 
Llywodraethu

Modiwl 1, Fersiwn Gweminar 2024 3

P
age 105



Modiwl 1, Fersiwn Gweminar 2024 4

Wrth arwyddo’r llw mae’n rhaid i’r 

Cyngor gytuno i’r datganiadau canlynol.

Bod y Cyngor:

✓yn rhoi rhaglen hyfforddiant yn ei le ar 

gyfer cynghorwyr a staff

✓yn cytuno i’r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer 

Cynghorwyr

✓gyda threfniadau llywodraethu da yn 

eu lle yn cynnwys contractau staff

✓yn gofyn am gymorth proffesiynol yn y 

cyfnodau cynnar os bydd problemau yn 

codi gyda chwrteisi a pharch

✓ymrwymo i fynd i’r afael ag achosion o 

fwlio ac aflonyddu 

✓yn parhau i ddysgu o arfer da yn y 

sector ac yn anelu i fod yn Fodel Rôl 

P
age 106



Rhannu Gwybodaeth

• Gwefan - wrthi’n dylunio safle newydd

• Pwyllgorau Ardal/Pwyllgor Cyngor Mwy

• Hyfforddiant ar gyfer Cynghorwyr

• Ymchwiliadau - Gwasanaeth Ymgynghori

• Cydweithio gyda Chymdeithas Clercod Cynghorau Lleol

• Cynadleddau

P
age 107



Darpariaeth Hyfforddiant

• Modiwl Hyfforddiant Cod Ymddygiad – nifer sylweddol 
o gynghorwyr wedi hyfforddi - Llywodraeth Cymru yn 
ariannu dau le am ddim ar gyfer pob cyngor 

• Gweminarau yn bennaf ond gellir cynnig hyfforddiant 
wyneb yn wyneb i gynghorau ar sail wedi’i deilwra

• Wedi darparu hyfforddiant i gynghorau wedi’u 
hariannu gan rai cynghorau (bwrdeistref) sir 

• Sesiynau Cod Ymddygiad yn cael eu darparu’n 
rheolaidd - rhwng £40 a £60 ar gyfer lle ar hyfforddiant

Modiwl 1, Fersiwn Gweminar 2024 6

P
age 108



Protocol Penderfyniadau Lleol

• Cyhoeddwyd y fersiwn diweddaraf yn 2021

• Holl gynghorau sy’n aelodau wedi’u darparu â’r 
protocol i’w fabwysiadu

• Canllaw Datblygu Ymarfer wedi’i gynllunio

• Hyfforddiant Cyfryngu ar gael - diddordeb yn isel

Modiwl 1, Fersiwn Gweminar 2024 7

P
age 109



Mathau Eraill o Gefnogaeth

• Gwasanaeth Cynghori

• Aelod o Grŵp Cwrteisi a Pharch
Cenedlaethol

• Amrywiaeth o gyrsiau hyfforddiant ar gael
trwy NALC

P
age 110



Aelod o Grŵp Cwrteisi a Pharch 
Cenedlaethol

• Gormod o Gynghorwyr a Chlercod yn gadael y 

sector oherwydd diffyg parch / bwlio a gwaeth

• Wedi cael effaith ar les pawb

• Yn broblem guddiedig - neb yn siarad amdano

• Cynghorwyr wedi gadael

• Llwgrwobrwyo Clercod gyda Chytundeb 

Cyfrinachedd (NDA)

• Andwyol i’r gymuned leol

Modiwl 1, Fersiwn Gweminar 2024 9

P
age 111



Unrhyw 
gwestiynau?

Modiwl 1, Fersiwn Gweminar 2024 10

P
age 112



Permission to appealP
age 113



The power

• designed to stop meritless applications to appeal the decisions of standards committees

• the application is to the President (who can delegate to another legal member)

• Statutory basis is The Local Government (Standards Committees, Investigations, 
Dispensations and referral)(Wales)(Amendment) Regulations 2016 No.85 (W. 39)

• Test is “does the appeal or part of it have a reasonable prospect of success” – take the 
Cllr’s case at its highest, which includes assuming that the Cllr’s version is correct unless 
conclusively disproved, entirely unsupported by reasonable argument or evidence, or can 
reasonably be viewed as fanciful allegations.

• done on the papers (a hearing is possible if special circumstances render a hearing 
desirable) – APW05 and Standards committee decision. No involvement by PSOW or 
committee. Future change to process?

• It cannot be appealed, other than judicial review.

P
age 114



Points to consider

• The reasons for what the committee decides are key - explain

• What happened at the hearing?

• Sanctions Guidance – and remember APW can recommend an 
increase…

• Generally sanction is up for debate (only refused three 
permissions historically)

P
age 115



Potential issues for standards committees

• Bias? By committee or PSOW

• No or little reasoning in standards committee decision e.g. bullying and 
harassment

• No explanation of what the arguments before it were or what happened

• Agreed facts and disputed facts – record carefully

• If Cllr has resigned, say what you would have done if they were still in post

• Failure to attend committee meeting by Cllr

• monitoring officers asking the APW for advice (remember we cannot 
extend time or give advice)

P
age 116



Hawl i apelioP
age 117



Y pŵer

• wedi’i ddylunio i atal ceisiadau heb deilyngdod i apelio penderfyniadau’r pwyllgor 
safonau

• mae’r cais ar gyfer yr Arlywydd (a all ddirprwyo i aelod cyfreithiol arall)

• Y sail statudol yw Rheoliadau Gorchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Pwyllgorau Safonau, 
Ymchwiliadau, Gollyngiadau ac Atgyfeirio) (Cymru) (Diwygio) 2016 Rhif 85 (W.39)

• Prawf yw “a oes gan yr apêl, neu ran ohoni ragolwg rhesymol o lwyddiant” - cymryd 
achos y Cynghorydd ar ei uchaf, sy’n tybio bod fersiwn y Cynghorydd yn gywir, ac eithrio ei 
fod wedi cael ei anghytuno’n derfynol, heb ei gefnogi o gwbl drwy ddadl neu dystiolaeth 
resymol, neu’n cael ei ystyried yn rhesymol i fod yn honiadau ffansïol.

• wedi’i wneud ar y papurau (mae gwrandawiad yn bosibl os yw amgylchiadau arbennig 
yn nodi bod gwrandawiad yn ddymunol) - penderfyniad APW05 a’r pwyllgor safonau. Dim 
cyfranogiad gan Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru na’r pwyllgor. Newid i’r 
broses yn y dyfodol?

• Nid oes modd apelio, ac eithrio adolygiad barnwrol.

P
age 118



Pwyntiau i'w hystyried

• Mae’r rhesymau dros beth mae’r pwyllgor yn ei benderfynu’n 
allweddol - esboniwch

• Beth ddigwyddodd yn y gwrandawiad?

• Canllawiau ar Gosbau - a chofiwch, gall PDC argymell 
cynnydd…

• Yn gyffredinol gellir trafod cosbau (tri chaniatâd yn cael eu 
gwrthod yn hanesyddol)

P
age 119



Problemau posib ar gyfer y pwyllgor safonau

• Rhagfarn? Gan y pwyllgor neu’r Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 
Cymru

• Dim neu ychydig iawn o resymu o ran penderfyniad y pwyllgor safonau e.e. 
bwlio neu aflonyddu

• Dim esboniad o ran beth oedd y ddadl flaenorol neu beth ddigwyddodd

• Ffeithiau y cytunwyd neu anghytunwyd arnynt - cofnodwch yn ofalus

• Os yw Cynghorydd wedi ymddiswyddo, dweud beth fyddech wedi’i wneud 
petaent yn parhau yn y swydd

• Cynghorydd yn absennol o gyfarfod pwyllgor

• swyddogion monitro yn gofyn i’r PDC am gyngor (cofiwch nid oes modd i ni 
roi amser ychwanegol na chyngor)

P
age 120


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting - 16th September 2024
	Minutes

	4 Community and Town Councils Training Update
	5 Outcome of Panel Meeting
	Decision Notice - signed

	6 PSOW External Review
	Appendix 1 - Independent Review
	Independent review of the PSOW’s investigation of Code of Conduct complaints
	Introduction
	Incident leading to this review
	Scope and Purpose of the Review

	Review methodology
	Documentary review
	Case review
	Staff interviews

	Review Outcomes
	Processes and Delegations Review
	Introduction
	Issues examined
	Documenting the political affiliation  of the Accused Member
	Accused Member not informed of complaint until after assessment
	Decisions not to investigate
	Proposals to investigate, to extend investigations and to commence Own Initiative investigations
	Opportunity for the Accused Member  to provide comment
	Reassessment/reconsideration  of complaints
	Other safeguards existing
	Conclusion

	Results of the
	Code Team Case Review
	Introduction
	Results
	Decision notice excerpts
	Dip sampling outcome
	Conclusion

	Review of the discontinued investigation cases where the FCTM was “case owner”
	Conclusion

	Staff interviews relating to the expression of personal views on political matters
	Code Team
	DOI/CLA
	Director of investigations
	FCTM
	Former Code Team Manager
	Conclusion

	Recommendations
	Lessons Learned
	Report conclusion
	Appendix 1: Terms of Reference
	Background
	Context
	Scope and Purpose of the Review
	Code of Conduct complaints which  are not investigated
	Code of Conduct complaints  – cases which are investigated
	Lead Reviewer
	Review Team
	Evidence Gathering
	Deliverables

	Appendix 2: Number of cases reviewed by case owner
	Appendix 3: Percentage of cases reviewed by subject

	Appendix 2 - Letter from PSOW
	Appendix 3 - PSOW Consultation Document

	7 Annual Report of the Adjudication Panel for Wales
	Appendix 1 - APW Annual Report 2023-24
	Contents
	Foreword
	Section 1 - About Us 
	Basis for the APW 
	The APW’s Function 
	The APW’s Regulations 
	The APW’s Process 
	Members of the APW 
	Appointments 
	Contacting the APW 
	Accessing the APW 

	Section 2 - Performance and Progress 
	Numbers and Statistics 
	Hearings data 
	Onward appeals 
	Achievement against key performance indicators 
	Speed of our service 2023-2024  
	Complaints

	Section 3 - Case summaries 
	References
	Interim matters 
	Appeals

	Section 4 - Business Priorities 
	Business Priorities 2024-2025 

	Section 5 - Expenditure 


	8 Notes from the National Forum of the Chairs of Standards Committees
	Appendix 1 - National Forum of Standards Chairs
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Documentation and Resources
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Sharing of Information
	Slide 6: Training Provision
	Slide 7: Local Resolution Protocol
	Slide 8: Other Types of Support
	Slide 9: National Civility and Respect Group
	Slide 10
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Dogfennaeth ac Adnoddau
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Rhannu Gwybodaeth
	Slide 6: Darpariaeth Hyfforddiant
	Slide 7: Protocol Penderfyniadau Lleol
	Slide 8: Mathau Eraill o Gefnogaeth
	Slide 9: Aelod o Grŵp Cwrteisi a Pharch Cenedlaethol
	Slide 10
	Slide 1: Permission to appeal
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Points to consider
	Slide 4: Potential issues for standards committees
	Slide 1: Hawl i apelio
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Pwyntiau i'w hystyried
	Slide 4: Problemau posib ar gyfer y pwyllgor safonau



